How the Nuclear Deal Enriches Iran's Revolutionary Guard Corps

Emanuele Ottolenghi, Saeed Ghasseminejad, Annie Fixler & Amir Toumaj October 2016



How the Nuclear Deal Enriches Iran's Revolutionary Guard Corps

Emanuele Ottolenghi Saeed Ghasseminejad Annie Fixler Amir Toumaj

October 2016



A division of the FOUNDATION FOR DEFENSE OF DEMOCRACIES Washington, DC

Table of Contents

INTRODUCTION	7
Understanding the JCPOA	8
A HISTORY OF THE IRGC'S ROLE IN THE ECONOMY	8
THE IRGC'S PERVASIVE CONTROL OF THE IRANIAN ECONOMY	11
Sector-by-Sector Analysis	12
Oil and Gas	13
Petrochemicals	13
Metals and Minerals	15
Automotive	17
Shipping	17
Aviation	18
Construction	19
Banking and Finance	20
Telecommunications	21
The IRGC Business Model	22
THE IRGC AND IRAN'S ROGUE ACTIVITIES	23
The IRGC and Iran's Ballistic Missile Program	23
The IRGC, Quds Force, and Terrorism in the Region	24
The IRGC's Involvement in the Syrian Civil War	25
Iran's Cyber Army	26
RECOMMENDATIONS	26
For the Current and Next U.S. Administration:	27
For Congress:	30
For the Private Sector:	33
CONCLUSION	34

Introduction

During the first week of September, Iranian speedboats twice harassed U.S. Navy ships in international waters near the Strait of Hormuz. Those boats belonged to the Islamic Revolutionary Guard Corps (IRGC). In the same week, news emerged that the IRGC had arrested another dual Iranian-American national during a family visit to the country. The commander of the IRGC's Quds Force, meanwhile, was in Aleppo, in the company of Iraqi Shiite militias currently engaged in the siege of Syria's second-largest city. Indeed, only a few days earlier, the IRGC announced the formation of a Shiite liberation army composed of Shiite militias that Iran has been nurturing across Mesopotamia and the Levant. That did not stop France's mobile phone giant, Orange, from beginning talks with Iran's largest mobile phone operator, Mobile Telecommunication Company of Iran (MCI), over acquiring a stake in the Iranian company. The IRGC controls MCI through a 50-percent-plus-one stake in its parent company, the Telecommunication Company of Iran (TCI).

In short, whether its internal security, foreign adventures, or large corporate ventures, the IRGC plays an outsized role in Iran's internal power structure. Established in 1979 to consolidate the Islamic revolution and fight its enemies, the IRGC has evolved over the years into a full-fledged conventional army, conducting and directing terrorist activity abroad. The Guard has also become a political power broker, an economic conglomerate, and an agency in charge of nuclear and ballistic-missile proliferation.

The interaction among military, economic, and political power is critical in understanding the centrality of the IRGC to Iran's current system. The Guard exploits its influence and capabilities in one realm to increase its presence in another. Its growing economic clout is both an end in itself and a tool to advance its other agendas. Thus, IRGC revenues from economic activities yield the necessary resources and political leverage to place its members in positions of power. Conversely, the Guard's political power serves the economic enterprises it owns, and both its political and economic weight in turn advance its military projects.

The IRGC's wealth serves three important goals. First, it generates revenue to finance the IRGC's military activities – including the nuclear and ballistic missile programs at home and sponsorship of terrorism abroad. Second, it offers the Guard a network of companies, enterprises, banks, offices, holdings, and joint ventures that can execute the regime's procurement efforts for advanced weaponry and sensitive technology. Third, it generates personal affluence, which the Guard can translate into political influence. Indeed, the Guard's growing political and economic influence enables it to bank on public companies' willingness to lend their services – both at home and abroad – to aid the Guard's efforts to procure forbidden technologies and raw materials, and to finance their purchases through middlemen in foreign markets.

Although the summer 2015 Joint Comprehensive Plan of Action (JCPOA) lifted significant sanctions on Iran, the risks for foreign investors - risks of exposure to money laundering, corruption, and terror finance or of inadvertently partnering with a still-sanctioned entity - have only increased. The Revolutionary Guard lies at the heart of these risks. The IRGC launders money from its "legitimate" businesses to fund its illicit activities; it finances terrorist groups across the world; and it enriches itself at the expense of the Iranian people through corruption and kleptocracy. It is for this reason, among others, that Transparency International ranks Iran 130 out of 168 counties on its corruption perception index, and the Basel Institute on Governance ranked Iran as worst in the world with regard to risks from money laundering and terrorism financing.1

This report demonstrates the Revolutionary Guard's pervasive influence in the Iranian economy and provides an accounting of the IRGC's nefarious activities. Without a sober understanding of how the IRGC will exploit economic dividends generated by the JCPOA, policymakers and the private sector cannot establish appropriate counter-measures to prevent the enrichment of the most dangerous elements of the Iranian regime.

Understanding the JCPOA

In July 2015, P5+1 negotiators reached an agreement with Iran on its nuclear program and the lifting of international sanctions. The United Nations Security Council then adopted the agreement as Security Council Resolution 2231, which supersedes all previous resolutions concerning Iran's nuclear program. A full analysis of the terms and structure of the agreement, the Joint Comprehensive Plan of Action (JCPOA), is beyond the scope of this report, but an overview of the deal provides important context.²

The JCPOA front-loaded the most significant sanctions relief on Implementation Day (January 16, 2016) after Iran met preliminary nuclear benchmarks. Then, after periods ranging from five to 15 years, additional sanctions will be lifted and restrictions on Iran's nuclear activities will lapse. As a result, Iran simply has to bide its time to become a threshold nuclear power with an industrial-size enrichment program, an advanced, long-range ballistic missile program, access to advanced heavy weaponry, and a more powerful economy.

The deal uses specific terminology to refer to milestones in the deal.³ For the purposes of this report, the following three milestones are relevant:

- Adoption Day (October 18, 2015): The date on which Iran began initiating its nuclear obligations, and the P5+1 issued the necessary regulations to lift or suspend sanctions upon Implementation Day.
- Implementation Day (January 16, 2016): Simultaneous with the verification by the International Atomic Energy Agency (IAEA) that Iran completed its nuclear commitments, the U.S., EU, and UN suspended certain sanctions.

• Transition Day (October 18, 2023): Eight years after Adoption Day, or when the IAEA reaches a so-called broader conclusion that there is no undeclared nuclear activity in Iran and that all nuclear activities are peaceful in nature – whichever comes first. Additional U.S., EU, and UN sanctions will be terminated.

A History of the IRGC's Role in the Economy

At the behest of Ayatollah Ruhollah Khomeini, the Islamic Revolutionary Guard Corps was established in 1979 as a militia tasked with consolidating his theocratic vision for Iran. The Iran-Iraq War (1980-1988) transformed the IRGC into a parallel national army steeped in the ideology of the Islamic revolution.⁴ Iranian state policy to export the revolution also took shape in this period,⁵ and the IRGC became the main instrument for the execution of this policy. Since 1989, when Ayatollah Ali Khamenei succeeded Khomeini after the latter's death, Khamenei has nurtured the Revolutionary Guard's expansion into an organization that powerfully and aggressively pushes Iran's ideology and national interests across the globe.⁶

The vast majority of the Guard commanders, who have risen to dominate the Islamic Republic's establishment, fought in the Iran-Iraq War,⁷ which forged the IRGC's worldview and Iran's broader strategic doctrine.⁸ The experience of the war instilled an unshakable belief in the senior Iranian leadership, and especially in the IRGC, that the West – led by the U.S. and the forces of "Global Arrogance" – are actively plotting their overthrow.⁹

IRGC officials claim that then-President Akbar Hashem Rafsanjani invited the Guard to play an important role in the reconstruction of the country following the war.¹⁰ Inheriting a country ruined by the eight-year war and low oil prices, Rafsanjani prioritized economic recovery above all else. The new president reportedly ordered the government not to depend on the Iranian parliament's budget approval process but instead to finance itself through state-run businesses.¹¹ Similarly, the IRGC branched out into the economy to ensure sources of financing for its military and overseas operations independent from the parliamentary budget process. Today, this direct engagement in the Iranian economy supplements the funds that the Iranian parliament allocates to the IRGC.

When Rafsanjani began his tenure, the IRGC's presence in Iran's economy was still limited, but by the time he left office in 1997, the Guard was one of its main players. In 1990, for example, the IRGC transformed its reconstruction headquarters into the construction conglomerate Khatam al-Anbiya, which in turn established numerous lucrative subsidiaries across the economy.¹² Over the decade following Rafsanjani's presidency, the IRGC became involved in the food industry, manufacturing, telecommunications, and, more recently, energy. IRGC subsidiaries are now directly involved in all phases of the oil supply chain.¹³ IRGC companies are also now prominent in the services and logistics sectors, where energy consulting companies, shipping, and port services fall under its purview.

Although the penetration of Iran's economy occurred gradually, the turning point was the IRGC's seizure of Tehran's new Imam Khomeini Airport in 2004. IRGC forces blocked the runway and prevented aircraft from landing, claiming that the Turkish consortium managing the airport had business ties to a "Zionist company."¹⁴ The IRGC wanted the contract for itself, and the takeover signaled a change: Henceforth, the IRGC would maintain first refusal for any big public project in the country.

In May 2005, Khamenei issued a decree for the government to privatize most publicly-owned industries and required ownership of at least 25 percent of the economy to be transferred to the private sector over a five-year period. The industries included "large-scale oil and low-end gas industries, mines, foreign trade, many banks, shareholder-owned cooperatives, power generation, many postal services, roads, railroads, aviation, and shipping."¹⁵ Rather than benefiting the private sector, however, a significant portion of privatization transfers went to the IRGC.¹⁶ The process was thus a transfer of wealth from the state to a parastate organization rather than true privatization. The process resulted in increased penetration of the IRGC into major sectors of the Iranian economy.

^{CC}Even as Iran welcomes forging strategic trading ties – inviting foreign capital and technological investment to enhance Iran's export capabilities – it ultimately subordinates these openings to national security and foreign policy goals. The IRGC is the guarantor of this objective.⁹⁹

The Islamic Republic's Constitution states, "The economy is a means that is not expected to do anything except better facilitate reaching the goal [of advancing the Islamic revolution]."¹⁷ The IRGC's role in the economy therefore ensures that economic development does not contradict revolutionary ideals. While the Islamic Republic's founder, Khomeini, welcomed economic sanctions as a means to achieve greater economic autarky,¹⁸ his successor, Khamenei, has quietly acted to create a "resistance economy" that, in effect, integrates economic policy-making into a national security doctrine. The goal of these policies is simple: making the economy resistant to all future Western sanctions while achieving some measure of growth as the regime pursues its political objectives.¹⁹

Decreed in February 2014, resistance economy policies are a set of 24 directives focused on transforming Iran's petroleum-based economy to a knowledge-based one, centered on Iran's information technology sector and increasing energy exports. Although a so-called resistance economy is not synonymous with autarky, it reflects a wariness about opening up to foreign investment and trade, especially with the West (as compared to Russia and China), believing that this leaves Iran vulnerable to Western pressure. Its primary objective is to insulate its economy from sanctions and other pressure while pursuing its revolutionary foreign policy goals.²⁰ Thus, even as Iran welcomes forging strategic trading ties – inviting foreign capital and technological investment to enhance Iran's export capabilities – it ultimately subordinates these openings to national security and foreign policy goals. The IRGC is the guarantor of this objective.²¹

Case Study: Sadra

The Islamic Republic nationalized Sadra, a private shipbuilding and ship repair firm, after the Iranian revolution. The company remained active in vessel construction and repair, oil and gas platform construction, and infrastructure construction.¹

In 2003, state-owned Bank Melli's investment company bought Sadra, also known as the Iran Marine Industrial Company, but then the company started to lose market value, likely as a result of purposeful mismanagement. The official story is that the Ministry of Oil stopped awarding contracts to Sadra because it was unable to complete its projects on time under the new board. Experts, however, believe that the Iranian government withheld contracts from the company in order to degrade the value of the company in favor of its competitors, especially the IRGC.²

Sadra's shares lost value precipitously in 2009, and the company was on the verge of bankruptcy. At that point, the IRGC conglomerate Khatam al-Anbiya purchased the company, buying each share under the market value.³ Previously, the IRGC had received numerous oil and gas contracts but did not have the capabilities to fulfill them without using subcontractors.⁴ Buying Sadra enabled the IRGC to bring this capability in-house.

After purchasing Sadra, the IRGC managed to postpone the repayment of the company's debts and to get its fines expunged. Simultaneously, the Guard convinced the government to give Sadra a \$500 million low-interest loan and to grant it new contracts valued at \$2 billion.⁵ The IRGC then plundered the company, and it was delisted from the Tehran Stock Exchange.⁶ The U.S. Treasury subsequently sanctioned Sadra in 2012 as an IRGC-owned entity.⁷

1. "About Iran Marine Industrial Co.," Iran Marine Industrial خاتمالانبيا-قرارگاهی-تحت-تحريم-با-۲۵-ميليارد-دلار-/http://www.dw.com/fa-ir (a-15280170)قرارداد-نفتی Co. (Sadra), accessed November 13, 2015. (http://www.sadra.ir/ وزارت صنايع موظف به يرداخت وام 005 ميليون دلاري به صدر اشد". default.aspx) درس هايي از سرنوشت بزرگترين خصوصي سازي " Ahmad Meidari, در س هايي از سرنوشت بزرگترين (The Industries Ministry Was Obliged to Give Sadra a \$500M (Lessons of Iran's Biggest Privatization Case)," Human Loan)," Fars News (Iran), April 30, 2010. (http://www.farsnews. com/newstext.php?nn=8902090357) Sciences Portal (Iran), accessed June 4, 2016. (http://www. ensani.ir/fa/content/224552/default.aspx) 6. "لایل پایین کشیده شدن بادبان های صدر ا در بورس» (Why Sadra was درس هايي از سرنوشت بزرگترين خصوصي سازي " Ahmad Meidari, Delisted)," Fars News (Iran), November 9, 2011. (http://www. (Lessons of Iran's Biggest Privatization Case)," Human farsnews.com/printable.php?nn=13910818000905) 7. U.S. Department of the Treasury, Press Release, "Treasury Sciences Portal (Iran), accessed June 4, 2016. (http://www. ensani.ir/fa/content/224552/default.aspx) Announces Additional Sanctions Against Iranian Engineering خاتمالانبيا، قرارگاهی تحت تحریم با ۵۲ میلیارد دلار قرارداد نفتی". 4. and Shipping Firms," March 28, 2012. (https://www.treasury. (Khatam al-Anbiya, A Sanctioned Base with a 25 Billion Dollar gov/press-center/press-releases/Pages/tg1509.aspx) Oil Contract)," Deutsche Welle (Germany), March 31, 2011.

The IRGC's Pervasive Control of the Iranian Economy

Experts calculate that the IRGC controls between 20 and 40 percent of the economy,²² and its annual income may be as high as one-sixth of Iran's GDP.²³ The IRGC is heavily involved in Iran's "financial and commercial sectors and [has] extensive economic interests in the defense production, construction, and oil industries, controlling billions of dollars in corporate business," according to the U.S. Treasury Department.²⁴ Also according to the U.S. government, the IRGC has "displace[d] ... the legitimate Iranian private sector," created a preferential system "in favor of a select group of insiders," and "expanded its reach into critical sectors of Iran's economic infrastructure.²⁵ It has become Iran's "most powerful economic actor.²⁶

Neither the U.S. nor EU has sanctioned the vast majority of IRGC-linked companies. We have identified at least 229 companies with significant IRGC influence, either through equity shares or positions on the board of directors.²⁷ The U.S. Treasury, however, has only sanctioned 25 IRGC individuals, 25 companies, and two academic institutions as owned or controlled by the IRGC.²⁸ The EU, for its part, has listed 25 entities as IRGC-owned or controlled under its nuclear and ballistic missile authorities,²⁹ and sanctioned 17 IRGC officials for human rights abuses.³⁰

Case Study: Tehran Stock Exchange

While the government continues to be the biggest player in the Tehran Stock Exchange, its primacy is fading. Privatization, as interpreted by Khamenei, means that eventually the executive branch should sell all of its assets. Not surprisingly, the IRGC and the religious foundations controlled by the supreme leader are the main buyers.

The IRGC is mainly active in the stock market in large-scale industries like mining, petrochemicals, telecommunications, and the automotive industry. The IRGC investment portfolio also includes substantial shares in 12 publicly-traded companies. The IRGC, regular armed forces, and Basij paramilitary force also have significant ownership stakes in an additional 13 publicly-traded companies.¹ Together, these 25 companies² are worth 18.9 percent of the Tehran Stock Exchange and are valued at \$17 billion.³ Former senior IRGC commanders, many of whom have never been subjected to sanctions, sit on many of the boards of these companies.⁴

Mostrous, Billy Kenber, and Hugh Tomlinson, "Iranian Militia to Grab British Cash," *The Times* (UK), August 26, 2015. (http:// www.thetimes.co.uk/tto/news/world/middleeast/article4538125. ecc); Emanuele Ottolenghi and Saeed Ghasseminejad, "Congress should keep foreign investors from working with Iran's Revolutionary Guards," *The Hill*, January 19, 2016. (http:// thehill.com/blogs/pundits-blog/international/266254-congressshould-keep-foreign-investors-from-working-with) 4. Emanuele Ottolenghi and Saeed Ghasseminejad, "Congress should keep foreign investors from working with Iran's Revolutionary Guards," *The Hill*, January 19, 2016. (http:// thehill.com/blogs/pundits-blog/international/266254-congressshould keep foreign investors from working with Iran's Revolutionary Guards," *The Hill*, January 19, 2016. (http:// thehill.com/blogs/pundits-blog/international/266254-congressshould-keep-foreign-investors-from-working-with)

By control, we mean that either the IRGC owns more than 50 percent of the shares or it has the majority of votes on the board of directors, or both. All values cited in this report are in dollars as they were valued on April 25, 2016.
 Data available upon request; Emanuele Ottolenghi, "The Iran Nuclear Deal and its Impact on Iran's Islamic Revolutionary Guards Corps, Appendix I and II," *Testimony before the House*

Foreign Affairs Middle East and North Africa Subcommittee, September 17, 2015. (http://docs.house.gov/meetings/ FA/FA13/20150917/103958/HHRG-114-FA13-Wstate-OttolenghiE-20150917-SD001.pdf)

^{3.} This number is their combined value on August 8, 2016 on the Tehran Stock Exchange (www.tse.ir). See also, Alexi

Treasury has also targeted companies, such as Iran Air, for providing logistical and financial support to the IRGC,³¹ and the State Department and Treasury have sanctioned some IRGC firms but not identified them as IRGC-owed. For example, the State Department designated Ofogh Saberin Engineering Development Company, under Executive Order 13628, as an "electronic warfare entity" because it facilitates the Iranian government's efforts to "limit access to print or broadcast media" by jamming Western media's satellite signals.³² The IRGC Cooperative Foundation – the Guard's investment arm – sits on the board of Ofogh Saberin, and, as a result, has direct control over the business.³³

The summer 2015 nuclear agreement between Iran and the P5+1 created a major "stimulus package" for Tehran's economy. Companies and individuals who have until now escaped international sanctions are likely to benefit from the post-deal economic windfall because the international business community will presume that any Iranian company not sanctioned is a legitimate business partner. As *The New York Times* reported in February, in the wake of sanctions relief, "the only deals being struck have been with statebacked conglomerates," including those connected to the IRGC.³⁴ Indeed, the IRGC is set to be a primary direct and indirect beneficiary of the deal unless the United States and its allies act decisively to prevent this.

On Implementation Day, January 16, 2016, the U.S., EU, and UN lifted or suspended sanctions against entire sectors of the Iranian economy, including upstream energy investment and energy-related technology transfers, the auto industry, petrochemicals, shipping, and precious metals. The IRGC is active in many of these sectors – some of which they dominate almost completely.

Numerous companies that served as accessories to the IRGC's nuclear and ballistic missile programs and its support for the Bashar al-Assad regime in Syria

were also removed from sanctions lists.³⁵ De-listed entities include the entire network of companies and subsidiaries controlled by the supreme leader, most of Iran's aviation industry and state-owned shipping firms, and companies where the IRGC has a significant ownership interest.³⁶ The delisting was not the result of a demonstrable change in these entities' behavior, and there are no guarantees they will cease the illicit conduct that caused them to be sanctioned in the first place.

Finally, as export and trade restrictions are lifted, previously prohibited Western technology will make its way back to Iran. The challenge of denying the IRGC access to banned technology – including dual-use technology and equipment for monitoring dissidents – will become even more arduous. The demise of sanctions may also facilitate the acquisition of advanced weaponry that will improve Tehran's conventional military capabilities, including the capabilities of the IRGC, which in turn may trickle down and enhance its ability to support the Syrian regime, Hamas in the Gaza Strip, Hezbollah in Lebanon, and Houthi rebels in Yemen, to name a few.

Sector-by-Sector Analysis

As a result of the JCPOA, the United States and European Union have lifted sector-based sanctions against strategic sectors of the Iranian economy. We judge that the following sectors are important for two reasons: 1) the IRGC has an overwhelming stake in these sectors, and 2) the sectors combined account for nearly half of Iran's total GDP. Additionally, a study by the Foundation for Defense of Democracies reveals that these sectors are also important to Iran's ballistic missile development.³⁷

The chart below shows the share of each major sector and sub-sector of the Iranian GDP from 2006 to 2012, according to Iran's Central Bank.³⁸

SECTOR	2006	2007	2008	2009	2010	2011	2012	Avg
Oil	24.5	24.3	22.4	17.6	20.1	25.0	16.4	21.8
Industries and Mines	20.9	21.7	22.8	22.9	21.3	21.4	24.9	22.7
Construction	5.8	8.2	9.3	9.0	7.6	7.9	9.8	7.8
Service	50.0	49.2	50.8	54.6	54.6	50.3	53.6	50.9
Transport, Warehouse, and Communication	8.0	8.5	9.1	9.7	9.6	8.2	8.8	8.2
Financial and Monetary Services	3.3	3.1	3.2	3.1	3.9	3.6	3.9	3.2

Share of GDP (%) - Current Prices

Source: Iran's Central Bank

Oil and Gas

IRGC firms own important contracts across the entire energy sector and are positioned to secure additional contracts as foreign capital and technology return to the energy industry. For example, production at the South Yaran oil field, a project owned by a subsidiary of the National Iran Oil Company (NIOC), the Petroleum Engineering and Development Company, is set to begin production before the end of 2016 and will yield approximately 50,000 barrels per day.³⁹ According to Fars News, "National Iranian Drilling Company (NIDC), Puya Energy Kish, Naft Kar and Khatam al-Anbiya Construction Headquarters are in charge of drilling."40 Although the U.S. and EU lifted sanctions on NIOC and its many subsidiaries on Implementation Day,41 Petroleum Engineering and Development Company is partnering with the Khatam al-Anbiya, which remains under sanctions. Western companies, therefore, need to be cautious of doing business with any Iranian company - even those removed from sanctions lists - because they may have contracts with the IRGC, thereby exposing the Western company to business and reputational risks.

Iran will benefit from the lifting of sanctions on its energy sector both through renewed foreign investment in upstream and downstream projects, and from access to Western technology (including liquid natural gas technology, refining, and petrochemicals production) that was previously restricted. Iranian state-owned companies with ties to the IRGC will be able to issue bonds to finance new projects and to procure technology. IRGC companies will also receive significant contracts in the oil and gas sector as investment and production rise.

Petrochemicals

Iran's petrochemical products are the country's largest source of income after oil.⁴² While not a majority owner in any of the publicly-traded petrochemical companies, the IRGC holds major stakes in many of these firms and will no doubt benefit from the suspension of petrochemical sanctions.⁴³ The IRGC holds major (although not majority) stakes in:

- Kermanshah Petrochemical Industries Company (market value: \$280 million)⁴⁴
- Pardis Petrochemical Company (\$1.4 billion)⁴⁵
- Parsian Oil and Gas Development Company (\$2.5 billion)⁴⁶
- Shiraz Petrochemical Company (\$343 million)⁴⁷

The chemical and petrochemical industries are critical to the explosive system, fuel materials, and composite

Case Study: South Pars Gas Field

Until 2010, European firms had been in talks with Tehran regarding the South Pars natural gas field. At the time, the Iranian partner in the project was the IRGC's Sepanir Oil and Gas Engineering Company.¹

These talks came to an end with the passing of new EU sanctions in July 2010,² banning European firms from working with Iran's oil and gas sector.³ In June 2010, the UN Security Council also sanctioned Sepanir, and the U.S. Treasury added it to its list of IRGC-designated entities.⁴ As a result, Sepanir was unable to access technology critical for the project. However, within months, a new Iranian company was formed, Petro Karan Shafagh Kish, or Petrokish, which replaced Sepanir and appears to have employed Sepanir staff.⁵ It appears that Petrokish is a front company created to evade the sanctions on Sepanir.

Much of the procurement and manufacturing of technology for South Pars is being conducted by Mapna Boiler Engineering and Manufacturing Company,⁶ a subsidiary of the Iranian giant Mapna Group, designated by Canada⁷ and the UK⁸ for its ties to Tehran's nuclear and ballistic missile programs.⁹

The JCPOA lifted restrictions on the natural gas sector.¹⁰ Mapna will therefore likely use its overseas network¹¹ to expand procurement from foreign partners. Meanwhile, because Petrokish was never sanctioned, the company can partner with foreign firms.

1. Emanuele Ottolenghi, "Are Iranian Sanctions Working?" *The Weekly Standard*, July 12, 2012, (<u>http://www.weeklystandard.com/</u> are-iranian-sanctions-working/article/648452)

2. The Council of the European Union, "Council Regulation (EU) No 961/2010 on Restrictive Measures Against Iran and Repealing Regulation," *Official Journal of the European Union*, October 25, 2010, Articles 8, 11, and 21. (http://eur-lex.europa.eu/legal-content/ EN/TXT/?qid=1446651329470&uri=CELEX:32010R0961); The Council of the European Union, "Council Decision 2010/413/ CFSP of 26 July 2010 Concerning Restrictive Measures Against Iran and Repealing Common Position 2007/140/CFSP," *Official Journal of the European Union*, July 27, 2010, Preamble paragraph 23 and Article 4. (http://eur-lex.europa.eu/legal-content/EN/ TXT/?uri=CELEX:02010D0413-20150408)

3. Leigh Phillips, "EU Iran sanctions 'most far-reaching ever agreed," *EU Observer*, July 17, 2010. (<u>https://euobserver.com/</u>foreign/30534)

4. U.S. Department of the Treasury, Press Release, "Fact Sheet: U.S. Treasury Department Targets Iran's Nuclear and Missile Programs," June 16, 2010. (<u>http://www.treasury.gov/press-center/</u> press-releases/Pages/tg747.aspx)

5. David Crawford, "Sanctions Hit – and Miss – in Germany Trade With Iran," *The Wall Street Journal*, December 17, 2011. (http://www.wsj.com/articles/SB10001424052970204323904577 040172793024832)

6. "Project's Name: South Pars (Phase 15 & 16)," *Projects Website, Mapna Boiler and Equipment Engineering and Manufacturing Company*, accessed September 13, 2015. (http://www.mapnaboiler. com/Projects/MapnaBoilerProjects/tabid/258/agentType/View/ PropertyID/68/Default.aspx)

7. Canada Department of Justice, Special Economic Measures Act, Special Economic Measures (Iran) Regulations, SOR/2010-165, Amended Version, May 29, 2013. (<u>http://laws-lois.justice.gc.ca/eng/regulations/sor-2010-165/fulltext.html</u>) 8. UK Department for Business Innovation & Skills, Export Control Organization, "Guidance Iran List," November 19, 2013. (https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/iran-list/iran-list) 9. One of Mapna's subsidiaries, Mapna Turbine Blade Manufacturing Engineering Co., was cited as the end-user for a procurement of dual-use technology in the June 2014 report of the UN Panel of Experts in charge of reporting on the implementation of UN Security Council Resolution 1929. United Nations Security Council, "Final report of the Panel of Experts established pursuant to resolution 1929 (2010)," June 5, 2014, page 13. (http://www. securitycouncilreport.org/atf/cf/%7B65BFCF9B-6D27-4E9C-8CD3-CF6E4FF96FF9%7D/S_2014_394.pdf) 10. U.S. Department of the Treasury, "Frequently Asked Questions Relating to the Lifting of Certain U.S. Sanctions Under the Joint Comprehensive Plan of Action (JCPOA) on Implementation Day," January 16, 2016. (https://www.treasury.gov/resource-center/ sanctions/Programs/Documents/jcpoa_faqs.pdf); European Union, "Information Note on EU sanctions to be lifted under the Joint Comprehensive Plan of Action (JCPOA)," January 23, 2016, page 10. (http://eeas.europa.eu/top_stories/pdf/iran_implementation/ information_note_eu_sanctions_jcpoa_en.pdf) 11. Mapna International FZE (UAE), Mapna International Shanghai (China), Mapna Europe GmbH (Germany), Mapna Italia srl (Italy), Energy Trading Eletrik Sanayi ve Ticaret Limited Sirketi and Ms Uluslararası Enerji Yatırım Anonim Şirketi (Turkey), and Kura Industrial Trading LLC (Republic of Georgia). Corporate entries for Mapna Europe GmbH are available at Germany's commercial registry portal (www.handelsregister.de); Mapna Italia are available at Italy's commercial registry (www.registroimprese. it); Mapna subsidiaries in Turkey are available from the website of Istanbul's Chamber of Commerce (www.ito.org.tr); entries for Kura Industrial Trading LLC, showing that Kura is a wholly owned subsidiary of Eletrik Sanayi are available from the official Georgian

commercial registry (http://enreg.reestri.gov.ge).

materials needed for ballistic missiles.⁴⁸ Petrochemical as well as oil refinery facilities can be used as a cover for a ballistic-missile procurement network to produce liquid propellant. Moreover, missiles use composite and composite-modified double-base propellants as fuel to provide propulsive energy.⁴⁹ Since 2008, the Atomic Energy Organization of Iran has produced high-purity graphite⁵⁰ used in Iran's nuclear and ballistic missile programs.⁵¹

In June 2010, the UN Security Council noted that "chemical process equipment and materials required for the petrochemical industry have much in common with those required for certain sensitive nuclear fuel cycle activities."⁵² The United States issued sanctions prohibiting investment in, and the provision of goods and services to, Iran's petrochemical sector in November 2011.⁵³ The European Union followed suit in March 2012,⁵⁴ targeting both exports of petrochemical products and imports of technology for the sector. The U.S. Treasury also blacklisted eight Iranian petrochemical companies in May 2013.⁵⁵

Following the November 2013 announcement of the interim nuclear agreement (in place during the negotiations to reach the JCPOA), sanctions on the sector were suspended, and exports rose 32 percent to \$3.17 billion.⁵⁶ The interim sanctions relief enabled 14 companies to sell their products – although not the four companies mentioned above.⁵⁷

The JCPOA has now permanently removed barriers to trade in the petrochemical sector and lifts restrictions on the access of Iranian petrochemical companies, including those with significant IRGC ownership, to sensitive dual-use technology.⁵⁸

Metals and Minerals

Iran's mining and metallurgic sectors are important sources of economic revenue for the country's economy, and are also suppliers of raw materials for its military. Excluding construction and utilities, the mining sector contributes between 10 and 15 percent of Iran's GDP.⁵⁹

The sector is also critical to Iran's ballistic missile program.⁶⁰ According to the Organization for Investment Economic and Technical Assistance of Iran, the country "has the world's largest zinc reserves and second-largest reserves of copper."⁶¹ Both of these elements are used for reduced-visibility treatments in missiles to keep them from detection and interception.⁶²

The publicly traded Iran Zinc Mines Development Company is the principal owner and producer of Iranian zinc, with a \$112 million market value and control of an important segment of the country's extractive activities. The company is majority-owned by the IRGC.⁶³

The Islamic Republic's largest aluminum producer, Iran Aluminum Company is 20-percent owned by the IRGC company Mehr Eghtesad Iranian Investment Company.⁶⁴ The United States sanctioned Mehr Eghtesad in June 2011 as a subsidiary of Mehr Bank, which itself was designated for proliferation and for providing financial services to the IRGC.⁶⁵ Mehr Eghtesad also has shares in other firms in the metals and mining sector, including Isfahan Mobarakeh Steel,⁶⁶ Tecnotar,⁶⁷ and the Zinc Mines Development Company.⁶⁸

The EU sanctioned Iran Aluminum Company in December 2012 because it "directly support[ed] Iran's proliferation sensitive nuclear activities."⁶⁹ The United States never designated the firm. The company has engaged in sanctions evasion for Iran's nuclear program⁷⁰ and supplied aluminum to the EU-designated Iran Centrifuge Technology Company.⁷¹

The EU was scheduled to lift sanctions against Iran Aluminum Company on Implementation Day, but the company won a court challenge annulling the designation prior to Implementation Day, and sanctions were lifted in September 2015.⁷²

Case Study: Iran Petroleum Contract

As the Rouhani administration seeks to put in place an Iran Petroleum Contract that is attractive to foreign firms¹ and tries to encourage upwards of \$200 billion in foreign investment in Iran's oil infrastructure,² the IRGC is posturing to protect and expand its influence in the lucrative oil business.

In December 2015, the commander of the Khatam al-Anbiya conglomerate, Ebadollah Abdollahi, claimed that there was no need for foreign companies in oil and gas construction projects except for finance purposes, pushing back against what the IRGC saw as threat to its interests.³ Individuals close to the IRGC, including Rostam Ghassemi, a former oil minister and senior IRGC commander, apparently forced the cancelation of Iran's February oil conference in London because of issues with the Iran Petroleum Contract.⁴ For months, as the contract underwent several rounds of revisions, hardline political groups, figures, and media outlets close to the IRGC continued their attacks, claiming that the Iran Petroleum Contract would damage the country by shutting domestic contractors out of upstream projects and undermining Iran's sovereignty with 20-year contract terms.⁵

To assuage these concerns, the Oil Ministry has reaffirmed that foreign companies interested in investing in Iran's oil and gas fields would need to partner with local exploration and production companies.⁶ Among an initial list of eight firms is IRGC conglomerate Khatam al-Anbiya, as well as previously-sanctioned entities including a subsidiary of the National Iranian Oil Company, the Industrial Development and Renovation Organization, and the Execution of Imam Khomeini's Order, a business empire controlled by Supreme Leader Khatam al-Anbiya, but the Rouhani administration may hope to keep criticism of the contract at bay by listing Khatam al-Anbiya, but the IRGC and its allies have continued to criticize the administration's handling of the Iran Petroleum Contract,⁷ enhancing their leverage to protect their interests in the oil sector.⁸

Even if a foreign company's partner is a non-IRGC firm, there is a risk that the technology can be transferred to IRGC firms (the Iran Petroleum Contract requires foreign firms to share technology and managerial expertise with Iranian firms⁹), enhancing the IRGC's capabilities and potentially exposing the foreign company to risks of aiding sanctioned entities or to the theft of intellectual property. Although the first oil field bids are expected in October,¹⁰ the final outcome and terms of the Iran Petroleum Contract are far from clear and depend the strength of Rouhani and his allies following the May 2017 presidential election. The IRGC's opposition to any perceived threat to its dominance in the energy sector makes the Iran Petroleum Contract a critical case to watch for multinational companies considering investing in Iran's energy sector.

1. Benoit Faucon, "Iranian Political Battles Pose Risk for Oil Contracts," *The Wall Street Journal*, February 1, 2016. (http:// www.wsj.com/articles/iran-struggling-to-finalize-new-oilcontracts-1454331285)

- 2. "Iran needs \$200bn oil investments," Press TV (Iran), February 9, 2016. (http://www.presstv.com/Detail/2016/02/09/449460/Iran-needs-200bn-oil-investments-/)
- 3. "سپاه و منفعتهای نفتی؛ خارجیها نيايند" (IRGC and oil benefits; foreigners shouldn't come)," *Radio Zamaneh* (Netherlands), December 14, 2015. (http://www.radiozamaneh.com/251205)
- Vice President Eshagh Jahangiri subsequently dismissed Ghassemi and replaced him with Hassan Pelarak, who is a former senior IRGC Quds Force commander. "بجرا رستم قاسمی برکنار شد؟" (Why was Rostam Ghassemi removed?)," *Alef* (Iran), February 2, 2016. (http://alef.ir/vdcgq79wyak9x34.rpra.html?328619)

5. Alireza Ramezani, "Iran closer to rolling out new oil project contracts," *Al Monitor*, August 24, 2016. (<u>http://www.al-monitor.com/pulse/originals/2016/08/iran-petroleum-contract-ipc-final-confirmation-parliament.html</u>);

6. "Iran identifies local partners for foreign oil industry investors," *Offshore Magazine*, July 5, 2016. (http://www.offshore-mag.com/articles/2016/07/iran-identifies-local-partners-for-foreign-oil-industry-investors.html)

7. David Ramin Jalilvand, "What's fueling opposition to Iran's new oil contracts?" *Al Monitor*, May 25, 2016. (<u>http://www.al-monitor.com/pulse/originals/2016/05/iran-petroleum-contract-framework-delayed.html</u>)

8. An arrangement may include bidding high-risk fields and offshore reserves to foreign companies, while extending small- and medium-sized fields to domestic firms. An Iranian administration official announced in May that less capital- and technological-intensive fields would be extended to Iranian firms. See: (ابالادو ۴ پیشنهاد اصلاحی برای الگوی جدید قرار دادهای نفتی) د. (۱۵) criticism and 4 recommendations for the new oil contract models), *Fars News* (Iran), May 21, 2016. (http://www.farsnews.com/13950303000565); "Iran to hold first oil tender in mid-Oct.," *Press TV* (Iran), August 30, 2016. (http://www.presstv.ir/Detail/2016/08/30/482342/Iran-oil-tender-Azadegan-field-IPC)
9. English translation of the latest version: "The New Iranian Petroleum Contract - Government Approval," *Lexology*, August 9, 2016. (http://www.lexology.com/library/detail.aspx?g=495d1029-891e-4a53-9b7a-5a6236984382)

10. "Iran to hold first oil tender in mid-Oct.," *Press TV* (Iran), August 30, 2016. (<u>http://www.presstv.ir/Detail/2016/08/30/482342/</u> Iran-oil-tender-Azadegan-field-IPC) The JCPOA does not lift U.S. sanctions against Mehr Eghtesad, but the EU had not previously sanctioned this entity. EU companies will thus be able to invest in Iranian companies where Mehr Eghtesad is a shareholder as well as conduct business transactions with them, despite a clear link with the IRGC.

As metals and mining sanctions are relaxed, companies in this sector will be able to conduct business with, and secure investments from, foreign companies. Additionally, with the lifting of sanctions against Iran's banking and transport sectors, Iranian metals and minerals exports will become more affordable to international buyers. IRGC companies will thus benefit from the general climate of economic improvement, access to modern extraction technology, financing, cheaper delivery costs, and potentially foreign investment in the metals and mining sector.

Automotive

The IRGC is active in the automotive sector, controlling major automotive companies listed on the Tehran Stock Exchange. The IRGC sold its shares of Bahman Group, the country's third-largest carmaker,⁷³ in June 2016.⁷⁴ The IRGC likely sold its shares because it understood that the company could not sign contracts with foreign companies if the IRGC retained ownership. Multinational companies interested in trading or partnering with Bahman should nevertheless engage in robust due diligence to ensure that the IRGC is not using front companies to retain its influence in Bahman.

The United States imposed sanctions on Tehran's automotive sector in June 2013, noting that it "is a significant contributor to its overall economic activity, generating funds that help prop up the rial and the regime."⁷⁵ The JCPOA lifts these sanctions. IRGC firms will be able to procure goods that Iran can use to further its ballistic missile program and potentially an illicit nuclear program.

Iran has engaged in illicit procurement under the guise of legitimate trade in the automotive sector.⁷⁶ By acquiring firms in the automotive sector, the IRGC eliminated its reliance on non-IRGC vehicle producers for Iran's ballistic missile program. Specialized vehicles are needed for the transportation, handling, and launch of ballistic missiles.⁷⁷ The technology to produce these specialized vehicles is not significantly different from that of regular vehicles.

The automotive industry also relies on dual-use goods and technology that have applications in the aerospace, defense, and nuclear industries. These goods include fiber-optic lasers for industrial welding and cutting,⁷⁸ electron-beam welding machines for automatic transmission systems,⁷⁹ flow-forming machines for rotational manufacture, and fiber-winding machines for the production of CNG pressure vessels and battery containers.⁸⁰

Shipping

The IRGC controls and manages most Iranian commercial ports and relies on Iran's largest shipping and aviation companies to transport military equipment and personnel to its proxies abroad.⁸¹ The IRGC also runs numerous economic activities through airports and harbors, including the Tehran-area Payam International Airport and its affiliated cargo airline Payam Air.⁸²

Iran's largest port operator is Tidewater Middle East Company PLC. According to the U.S. Treasury, "[S] hipments into Tidewater facilities provide an avenue of revenue to the IRGC in support of its illicit conduct."⁸³ The EU also designated Tidewater as an IRGC company.⁸⁴

Tidewater and its subsidiaries played a critical role in providing services for Iran's weapons shipments to Hamas and Hezbollah, some of which were interdicted in international waters. Weapons cargoes disguised as commercial goods and destined for terrorist and militant groups have consistently originated from the Bandar Abbas container terminal, which Tidewater manages.⁸⁵

Under the JCPOA, sectoral sanctions, as well as individual designations of companies in the transportation sector, have been lifted. Although Tidewater itself will remain under EU sanctions until Transition Day (and under U.S. sanctions indefinitely),⁸⁶ any increase in shipping prompted by the lifting of sanctions will almost certainly enrich IRGC-owned companies managing container terminals and port services.

Aviation

In the aviation sector, the United States de-listed a number of airlines previously sanctioned for providing services to the IRGC. For example, under the JCPOA, the United States de-listed Aban Air,⁸⁷ which the U.S. had sanctioned in May 2013, under Executive Order 13382, for providing support to the IRGC's illicit weapons proliferation.⁸⁸ The U.S. also de-listed Iran Air, which, according to Treasury, "shipped military-related equipment on behalf of the IRGC since 2006 ... [and has] also been used to transport missile or rocket components to Syria."⁸⁹ Iran Air also shipped military

equipment on behalf of the IRGC and the Ministry of Defense,⁹⁰ including, crucially, IED parts Iran illegally procured from U.S. suppliers in 2007. Iran Air transported them to Tehran and they later made their way to Iraq, where Iranian-backed Shiite militias made lethal use of them against US personnel.⁹¹

Other Iranian airlines that regularly do business with the IRGC are likely to benefit from the discrepancy between U.S. and EU sanctions. For example, in 2012, the United States sanctioned Yas Air (now called Pouya Air) for acting "on behalf of the IRGC-QF [Quds Force] to transport illicit cargo – including weapons – to Iran's clients in the Levant."⁹² According to Treasury, Yas Air "has moved IRGC-QF personnel and weapons under the cover of humanitarian aid."⁹³ Yas Air will remain under U.S. sanctions, but the EU will lift its sanctions on the airline on Transition Day.⁹⁴

Similarly, the U.S. designated Mahan Air in October 2011 for "financial, material and technological support" to the Quds Force, including ferrying personnel and weapons to Syria.⁹⁵ Mahan's role in the shipment of weapons and military personnel to Syria appears to be ongoing, with shipments occurring several times a week, sometimes daily, and occasionally more than once a day.⁹⁶



Mahan has even used its newly acquired A340 Airbus fleet for flights to Syria.⁹⁷ According to available commercial flight tracking data obtained for the period between September 13, 2015 and September 14, 2016, Mahan Air flew at least 194 flights to Syria, mostly to Damascus.⁹⁸

Mahan Air will remain under U.S. sanctions indefinitely. Nonetheless, the EU has not designated Mahan Air, meaning that its jets fly with impunity to more than a dozen European destinations. The airline has also announced the expansion of its European routes,⁹⁹ which it will be servicing with planes it acquired in May 2015, in violation of U.S. sanctions.¹⁰⁰ Mahan is also receiving services from Western airports as a result of its continuing operations of international routes, including fueling, baggage handling, ticketing and check-in, catering, and overnight stays for crew.

In addition to lifting sanctions on specific Iranian airlines on Implementation Day, the United States "allow[ed] for the sale of commercial passenger aircraft and related parts and services to Iran," as well as the export, lease, and transfer of aircraft, and the provision of associated services to aircraft, provided they are "for exclusively civil aviation end-use."¹⁰¹ This will enable Iranian airlines – including those mentioned above – to modernize their aging fleets; and Iran Air has announced preliminary deals with Airbus for 118 planes, with Boeing for another 80 planes, and with other companies for many more.¹⁰²

The removal of sanctions on firms in the aviation sector will likely enhance the IRGC's ability to engage in illicit activities – especially given the IRGC's control of key Iranian airports as mentioned above. Airlines will be able to improve the quality and reliability of their air service to their customers, including the IRGC and its Quds Force. The Quds Force will have access to newer, larger, and more efficient planes with which to pursue its strategic objectives.

Construction

The IRGC conglomerate Khatam al-Anbiya is the Islamic Republic's biggest construction firm, and may be its largest company outright, with 135,000 employees, 5,000 subcontracting firms,¹⁰³ and more than 800 subsidiaries¹⁰⁴ in numerous sectors of Iran's economy, including its nuclear and defense, energy, construction, and engineering programs. The value of its current contracts is estimated at nearly \$50 billion, or about 12 percent of Iran's GDP.¹⁰⁵

The company is involved in "road-building projects, offshore construction, oil and gas pipelines, and water systems."¹⁰⁶ Among its projects are 51 contracts with the Oil Ministry, worth more than \$17 billion;¹⁰⁷ and that does not include the \$2-billion Bakhtiari Dam,¹⁰⁸ which is slated to be the tallest in the world. The company also has a contract for the 560-mile-long natural-gas pipeline from Bushehr to Sistan-Baluchistan, a project worth \$1.3 billion. It has reportedly also taken over most development phases in the South Pars offshore gas field, partially as a response to foreign companies' withdrawals in the wake of international sanctions.¹⁰⁹

Khatam al-Anbiya is heavily involved in infrastructure projects, including railway networks, port expansion, highway improvement, and high-velocity trains. The company has a contract for the \$3 billion "shrine-to-shrine" highway connecting Qom and Mashhad;¹¹⁰ and a Tehran metro line that is part of a \$7-billion metro-expansion program.¹¹¹ Its subsidiary, Sepasad Engineering Company, is developing several metro projects to lengthen and improve commuters' connections to Tehran and its international airport from satellite towns. It is also the contractor for the Moshampa Dam.¹¹²

In February 2015, work began on a \$2.7-billion project to link Tehran to Isfahan by high-speed railway. The project is spearheaded by the China Railway Engineering Corporation and Khatam al-Anbiya. Financing will come partially from Iran's Bank of Industry and Mine,¹¹³ a government-owned entity that the U.S. Treasury sanctioned in 2011 for facilitating Iran's proliferation activities. The EU sanctioned it in 2012 for similar reasons,¹¹⁴ but it was de-listed on Implementation Day.¹¹⁵

Most of Khatam al-Anbiya's projects are straightforward business ventures, but many have military dimensions or applications. In 2008, then-Deputy Director Abdolreza Abedzadeh said that 70 percent of Khatam al-Anbiya's business was military-related.¹¹⁶

Iran's ballistic missile program, for example, requires the construction of testing and production facilities, above-ground and underground storage areas, and launch facilities. In October 2015 and January 2016, the IRGC unveiled two underground sites for storing missiles.¹¹⁷ The equipment needed to build underground military facilities is the same as those needed for the Tehran metro line project and other Khatam al-Anbiya infrastructure projects.¹¹⁸

In 2007, the United States sanctioned Khatam al-Anbiya as a proliferator of weapons of mass destruction.¹¹⁹ According to the U.S. Treasury, the IRGC uses Khatam al-Anbiya to "generate income and funds its operations."¹²⁰ Even though Khatam al-Anbiya will remain under EU sanctions until Transition Day, and under U.S. sanctions indefinitely,¹²¹ its primary constraint until now has been Tehran's failing economy. More business coming into Iran means more construction. The anticipated increase in public spending to modernize and improve Iran's aging infrastructure will no doubt lead to public tenders for large projects, for which Khatam al-Anbiya will be a primary beneficiary.

The Obama administration may be correct that Iran will use most of the funds in previously frozen accounts to finance construction projects. Rather than transfer the funds directly to terrorist proxies, the money will flow through the IRGC's construction arm, which in turn will support the Guard's ability to fund terrorism.

Banking and Finance

Over the past decade, the United States imposed sanctions on six Iranian banks due to their ties to the IRGC: Ansar, Mehr, Melli, Arian, Kargoshaee, and Future Bank.¹²² The first two were created by the IRGC to provide services to its personnel and its paramilitary Basij force, according to statements issued by the U.S. Treasury and the EU.¹²³ Banks Ansar and Mehr are owned by the Guard, while the other four banks are not IRGC banks but rather have conducted transactions on its behalf.¹²⁴

On Implementation Day, the U.S. and EU delisted Bank Melli and its subsidiaries, including the aforementioned Arian Bank, Bank Kargoshaee, and Future Bank.¹²⁵ On Transition Day, Brussels will also lift sanctions on Ansar Bank and Mehr Bank.¹²⁶ The U.S. sanctions on these two banks will remain in place.

The IRGC ownership appears to explain the distinction in the lifting of sanctions, but ownership in this case is immaterial. The distinction between IRGC-owned, IRGC-linked, and non-IRGC banks is insignificant. The IRGC's financial activities are not limited only to those banks owned by the Guard or those that have previously managed its transactions. For example, when Treasury sanctioned Bank Melli, it noted that the institution facilitates transactions for the IRGC and engages in deceptive financial practices to hide the IRGC's involvement.¹²⁷ Other Iranian state banks have also been used as conduits for ballistic missile and nuclear proliferation financing – activities run by the IRCG.

Moreover, by allowing financial institutions to reconnect to the SWIFT financial messaging system and lifting restrictions on their operations, the JCPOA allows all unsanctioned IRGC companies to regain access to the global financial system. That is sufficient to enable the Guard to resume banking operations in Europe.

One of the ways the Guard invests in Iranian financial markets is through its banks and investment firms, which are directly or indirectly controlled by the IRGC Cooperative Foundation. Treasury has noted that eight of the nine members of the foundation's board of trustees are IRGC officials, including its commander, Mohammad Ali Jafari.¹²⁸ The Guard controls Mehr Eghtesad Iranian Investment Company, Andishe Mehvaran Investment Company,129 and Tadbirgaran Atieh Iranian Investment Company.¹³⁰ Tabdirgaran Atieh, for example, owns shares in Zinc Mines Development Company, Exir Pharmaceutical Company, Behbahan Cement Company, Sina Tile and Ceramic Industries, Rayan Saipa Leasing Company, Isfahan Oil Refinery, and Kaveh Paper Industries.¹³¹ As Iran's economy grows, these companies are likely to experience new business opportunities and generate profits for their investors and owners: the IRGC.

While some IRGC investment firms have been designated, others have escaped sanctions. Not only will these companies now increase their income from investments, but they will also be able to invest their assets abroad. The high number of IRGC-owned investment firms makes it difficult to identify and track entities under control of the Guard. It also provides the IRGC a complex network of financial entities that can be used in the IRGC's illicit activities, such as money laundering.

Finally, as financial restrictions are lifted, Iranian banks will be able to raise capital through Iranian government public-guaranteed bonds. In turn, these bonds finance public projects contracted to IRGC companies.¹³²

Telecommunications

The IRGC controls Iran's largest telecom company, the Telecommunication Company of Iran (TCI), having purchased 50 percent plus one of the shares in 2009.¹³³ The Guard won the bid in a joint venture with a foundation controlled by the supreme leader, and drove out its main rival by using its political power to exclude it from the bidding process. Two IRGC companies participated in a tender to buy the company: one owned by Bonyad Taavon Sepah, the other by Bonyad Taavon Basij. TCI's main shareholder (50 percent) is Tose'e Etemad Mobin, a company controlled jointly by the IRGC and the supreme leader's financial network.¹³⁴

TCI has a near monopoly on Iranian landline telephone services,¹³⁵ and reportedly all internet traffic in and out of the country travels through TCI.¹³⁶ This is particularly problematic since TCI purchased "a powerful surveillance system capable of monitoring landline, mobile and internet communications" from a Chinese firm in 2010.¹³⁷ All three mobile operators in the Islamic Republic are directly or indirectly partners with IRGC-affiliated companies, according to an August 2013 report in *Al Monitor*.¹³⁸

The United States sanctioned the IRGC in April 2012 for "grave human right abuses ... via information technology." ExecutiveOrder 13606 targets those entities and individuals that operate, support, or provide technology that disrupts, monitors, or tracks communication that could assist or enable human rights abuses by the government of Iran.¹³⁹ TCI, however, was never sanctioned by the U.S. or EU, either for its IRGC ownership or potential role in human rights violations. In 2013, the State Department did, however, designate an IRGC subsidiary, Ofogh Saberin Engineering Development Company, for censorship activities under Executive Order 13628.¹⁴⁰

As sanctions on the telecommunication sector are lifted, Iran will attract foreign investment and gain significant access to advanced technology. The IRGC will thus be in a position acquire sensitive monitoring technology that it may use to enhance its surveillance of dissidents.

The IRGC Business Model

The profits the IRGC derives from its "legitimate" business interests fund Iran's military and terrorist proxies and other nefarious activities.¹⁴¹ Indeed, some IRGC companies are involved in a wide array of activities not necessarily linked to proliferation or missiles. Iran's legitimate and illegitimate business endeavors, however, cannot be easily disentangled. Legitimate businesses are used to procure goods for illicit activities, and the profits from the former are used to finance the latter, as IRGC members have admitted on the record.¹⁴²

As scholar Matthew Frick explains, the Guard's political clout "can be summed up in one word: alumni."143 The businesses the IRGC spawns are often based on informal networks of blood ties and bonds forged in uniform. Abundant evidence shows IRGC companies have been used as conduits for illicit transactions, and that board memberships may be afforded out of loyalty to the revolutionary cause than professional qualifications. For example, the IRGC Cooperative Foundation and Basij Cooperative Foundation are among Iran's top holding companies and control billions of dollars of assets. Board members for these two financial giants are active-duty IRGC officers or IRGC veterans with no previous financial experience.¹⁴⁴ The IRGC Cooperative's chairman, General Morteza Rezai, is a former commander of the IRGC and head of its intelligence bureau.¹⁴⁵ The foundation's CEO, Ahmad Vahid Dastjerdi spent his life in the Defense Ministry running the Aerospace Industries Organization, the entity in charge of Iran's missile program.146 Companies owned and controlled by these two foundations feature similarly inexperienced boards.

The IRGC's legitimate business dealings enable it to gain access to foreign technology that Iran cannot yet produce indigenously, such as dual-use goods for its nuclear and ballistic missile program. The Guard can acquire missing tools to advance its military projects, learn critical skills, crack technological secrets, engage in corporate espionage, and – insofar as it succeeds in reverse-engineering foreign technologies¹⁴⁷ – make Iranian military industries less dependent on imports.

⁶⁶Iran's legitimate and illegitimate business endeavors, however, cannot be easily disentangled. Legitimate businesses are used to procure goods for illicit activities, and the profits from the former are used to finance the latter, as IRGC members have admitted on the record.⁹⁹

The IRGC's legitimate businesses are intertwined with its smuggling operations. The IRGC smuggles cars, electronics, and household commodities that are scarce or costly due to international sanctions.¹⁴⁸ The IRGC is also the country's main smuggler of arms,¹⁴⁹ and drug trafficking is endemic within the Guard, according to Sajjad Haghpanah, a former investigator with the IRGC's domestic intelligence division. "They have their own ships, aircraft and haulage companies, everything needed for import and export," he said.¹⁵⁰ The U.S. Treasury Department has also identified IRGC commanders' involvement in the drug trade.¹⁵¹

The IRGC's control of sea, air, and land borders, as well as ports, airports, and roads, enables the organization to engage in extensive smuggling operations.¹⁵² In 2011, Mehdi Karroubi, the former speaker of parliament, complained that the IRGC also operated unauthorized ports to smuggle goods.¹⁵³ Estimates of the total value of smuggled imported goods in Iran range between \$20 billion and \$30 billion.¹⁵⁴ As noted in a *Newsweek* report in 2010, only the IRGC has the resources to run such a massive operation and the political influence to keep it from getting shut down.¹⁵⁵

The IRGC and Iran's Rogue Activities

The IRGC is today the central force behind the range of Iran's dangerous and nefarious activities – from nuclear proliferation to support for international terrorism to systemic human rights abuses. In 2011, then-Secretary of State Hillary Clinton and then-Treasury Secretary Timothy Geithner explained:

The IRGC ... serves as the domestic "enforcer" for the Iranian regime, continues to play an important proliferation role by orchestrating the import and export of prohibited items to and from Iran, is involved in support of terrorism throughout the region, and is responsible for serious human rights abuses against peaceful Iranian protestors and other opposition participants.¹⁵⁶

It is for this reason that the United States and the international community have targeted the IRGC under myriad sanctions authorities: The United States first sanctioned the Revolutionary Guard in 2007 for its role in Iran's nuclear and ballistic missile proliferation activities.¹⁵⁷ At the same time, Washington also designated the IRGC's elite, external arm, the Quds Force, for its role in international terrorism and supporting a range of terrorist groups in 2007.

Two years later, the United States sanctioned the IRGC and its volunteer Basij force for "severe human rights abuses" and their central role in crushing the pro-democracy movement following the fraudulent 2009 presidential elections.¹⁵⁸ In 2012, Washington issued an executive order sanctioning individuals and entities involved in so-call "human rights abuses via information technology" and sanctioned the IRGC under this authority for monitoring dissidents and censoring free expression.¹⁵⁹

Finally, the United States sanctioned the Quds Force and its commander, General Qassem Soleimani, in 2011 for supporting Syria's intelligence services and helping the Assad regime crush internal dissent.¹⁶⁰ Two years later, the EU followed suit.¹⁶¹

The nuclear deal does not affect any of these sanctions, and likewise none of the IRGC's behavior has changed. In fact, in the wake of the nuclear deal, the bloodshed in Syria continues to worsen, and the human rights situation in Iran has deteriorated further.¹⁶² The Revolutionary Guard has arrested hundreds in what human rights experts call the largest crackdown since the suppression of protests after the 2009 election.¹⁶³

The IRGC and Iran's Ballistic Missile Program

Iran's ballistic missile program started during the reign of the Shah, but expanded considerably after the 1979 Islamic revolution.¹⁶⁴ Then, in the aftermath of the Iran-Iraq War, the IRGC and the Aerospace Industries Organization, a subordinate of the Ministry of Defense and Armed Forces Logistics, expanded the program to include longer-range missiles.¹⁶⁵ These two organizations began work toward intercontinental ballistic missile (ICBM) capability in the late 1990s or early 2000s, but have not tested any such weapons to date.¹⁶⁶ Two primary entities involved in Iran's ballistic missile program are Shahid Hemmat Industrial Group – a subsidiary of Aerospace Industries Organization – and the IRGC Al-Ghadir Missile Command.¹⁶⁷

Today, Iran has the "largest inventory of ballistic missiles in the Middle East," according to the U.S. government's February 2016 Worldwide Threat Assessment. The United States intelligence community further assesses that Iran "would choose ballistic missiles as its preferred method of delivering nuclear weapons, if it builds them."¹⁶⁸ Experts believe Iran's nuclear and ballistic missile programs are closely intertwined.¹⁶⁹ As Director of National Intelligence (DNI) James Clapper testified to Congress, "Iran's ballistic missiles are inherently capable of delivering WMD."¹⁷⁰ Moreover, experts note that developing costly, indigenous long-range ballistic missiles without acquiring nuclear warheads makes little sense, and no country without nuclear-weapons ambitions has ever built a medium- or long-range ballistic missile program.¹⁷¹

Since the July 2015 nuclear deal, Iran has conducted repeated ballistic missile tests, contrary to UN Security Council Resolution 2231.¹⁷² Iran appears to be committed to developing its missile program "regardless of the consequences," according to testimony from Ambassador Stephen Mull, the State Department's coordinator for the implementation of the JCPOA.¹⁷³ DNI Clapper noted in February that since June 2010, Tehran had conducted 140 missile launches.¹⁷⁴

A ballistic missile program is a sophisticated, capitaland technology-intensive endeavor that requires expertise from sectors ranging from construction to robotics and computer science. The IRGC has extensive expertise in these fields and, as noted above, controls large companies in sectors that provide access to raw and processed materials, human capital and expertise, and foreign procurement networks.

Despite Iran's ongoing ballistic missile development, on Transition Day, the EU will lift sanctions against Shahid Hemmat Industrial Group and the IRGC's Al-Ghadir Missile Command – and their parent organizations, the Aerospace Industries Organization, the Ministry of Defense, and the IRGC.¹⁷⁵ Thus, after continuing to illicitly procure goods for its ballistic missile program and funneling money from legitimate businesses to fund it, the IRGC will receive additional benefits through the lifting of ballistic missile-related sanctions.

The IRGC, Quds Force, and Terrorism in the Region

The State Department formally designated the Islamic Republic a state sponsor of terrorism in January 1984, confirming that assessment every year since, including in its most recent report on global terrorism, issued in June 2016.¹⁷⁶

Since the 1979 revolution, the Iranian government has financed and supported dozens of deadly terrorist attacks against American and allied targets, and the IRGC has been directly "involved in or behind some of the deadliest terrorist attacks of the past two decades," according to the Defense Department's April 2010 Unclassified Report on Military Power of Iran.¹⁷⁷ In the February 2016 Worldwide Threat Assessment, DNI Clapper noted, "Iran-the foremost state sponsor of terrorism—continues to exert its influence in regional crises in the Middle East through the Islamic Revolutionary Guard Corps-Qods Force (IRGC-QF), its terrorist partner Lebanese Hezbollah, and proxy groups. ... Iran also supported Houthi rebels in Yemen by attempting to ship lethal aid to the Houthis."178

According to the U.S. government, the Quds Force is responsible for "exporting the revolution" abroad,¹⁷⁹ is Iran's "primary arm for ... supporting terrorist and insurgent groups," and "provides material, logistical assistance, training and financial support to militants and terrorist operatives throughout the Middle East and South Asia."¹⁸⁰ Quds Force operatives lead subversive activities abroad ranging from the creation of cultural and business fronts and executing assassinations to backing political resistance organizations and supporting violent opposition groups.¹⁸¹ According to the U.S. government, the Quds Force provided "weapons, training, funding, and guidance" to groups that targeted American servicemen.¹⁸² Although the Pentagon does not maintain a specific record of casualties linked to Iran, senior Defense Department officials estimate that at least 500 U.S. military deaths in Iraq and Afghanistan were linked directly to Iran and its militias.¹⁸³

The Quds Force was also behind plans to assassinate the Saudi ambassador in Washington in 2011.¹⁸⁴ The foiled plot entailed bombing a Georgetown restaurant as well as the Israeli embassy in Washington.¹⁸⁵ The plan involved coordination with a Mexican drug cartel and a side deal to funnel tons of opium from the Middle East to Mexico. Then-Attorney General Eric Holder said that the plot was "directed and approved by elements of the Iranian government and, specifically, senior members of the Quds Force," noting that the Quds Force is "an integral part of the Iranian government."¹⁸⁶ This plot was not, therefore, the work of a rogue cell but rather coordinated at the highest levels of the Islamic Republic.

⁶⁶Although the Pentagon does not maintain a specific record of casualties linked to Iran, senior Defense Department officials estimate that at least 500 U.S. military deaths in Iraq and Afghanistan were linked directly to Iran and its militias.⁹⁹

The U.S. Treasury designated the Quds Force under its terrorism authorities,¹⁸⁷ but Iran's support of terrorism extends beyond the Quds Force and is an integral tool of Tehran's foreign policy¹⁸⁸ – a foreign policy in which the Revolutionary Guard plays a significant role. The IRGC chief commander has a seat in the Supreme National Security Council (SNSC), Iran's highest national security decision-making body.¹⁸⁹ The council formulates policies on the country's critical internal and external security issues, including the nuclear program and conflicts in Iraq and Syria. Both the IRGC and SNSC answer directly to Supreme Leader Khamenei, who has the final word on all issues, including foreign policy.

In testimony before the Senate Banking Committee in September 2015, Treasury's Acting Under Secretary for Terrorism and Financial Intelligence Adam Szubin noted:

The IRGC is a parent organization, has a number of subsidiaries, and it's involved almost in every bad aspect of what Iran is engaged in. Whether it's the ballistic missile procurement, whether terrorism, whether it's regional destabilization or human rights. We designated the Quds Force, which is their arm that they use to support military activity and terrorist groups, under our terrorism program because it was the most apt element of the IRGC to label with the terrorist brush. ... [B] ut, certainly we've seen the activity underneath the IRGC that easily qualifies for terrorist support.¹⁹⁰

IRGC's Involvement in Syria's Civil War

Tehran has been the main supporter of the Syrian regime since the uprising against it began in 2011. Syrian territory is especially important for Iran, as it is the supply route to its main proxy, Hezbollah.¹⁹¹ Tehran's primary lifeline to Syrian leader Bashar al-Assad is through the air, and its commercial airline Mahan Air has been a significant conduit for ferrying weapons, materiel, and manpower to the regime since 2012.¹⁹² The IRGC reportedly uses military planes to transport large numbers of ground forces and Shiite militias to Syria.¹⁹³

The Quds Force has been the spearhead of Iran's strategy and operations in the Syrian theater.¹⁹⁴ The Quds Force's charismatic commander, General Qassem Soleimani, is in charge of all of the IRGC's important portfolios in the Middle East, including Iraq and Syria.¹⁹⁵ Soleimani is one of the most powerful figures in the Islamic Republic and reports directly to the supreme leader.¹⁹⁶ When Assad was in danger of falling in 2015, Soleimani traveled to Moscow, in violation of a UN travel ban,¹⁹⁷ to convince Russia to intervene on Assad's behalf.¹⁹⁸ Soleimani has also coordinated the deployment of Shiite militias from Iraq, Lebanon, Afghanistan, and Pakistan to aid the Quds Force's efforts.¹⁹⁹

Iran's Cyber Army

Iran is rapidly emerging as a top-tier cyber power.²⁰⁰ DNI Clapper testified before the Senate Armed Services Committee on February 26, 2016 that Tehran ranks just behind Russia and China as a leading cyber threat actor.²⁰¹ Experts warn that since 2010, Iran has invested significant resources and efforts to develop its cyber program.²⁰² The IRGC has taken the lead in this field.

As noted above, the IRGC now owns and controls Iran's largest communication company, and manages the skilled cyber technicians and specialists of the Iran Cyber Army, who are trained to hack into opposition websites and conduct other offensive cyber operations.²⁰³ The Iranian government has been implicated in dozens of cyberattacks, including the penetration of critical infrastructure – which observers fear may be aimed at hacking the accounts of U.S. officials.²⁰⁴ The IRGC also is believed to be behind the 2012 cyberattack against Saudi Aramco.²⁰⁵

In the wake of the nuclear agreement, Iran has reportedly stepped up its cyberattacks against the United States. *The Wall Street Journal* reported that after July 2015, the Revolutionary Guard conducted a "surge" of cyberattacks against the U.S., relying on an "army of cyberattackers" who targeted American banks and the U.S. government.²⁰⁶ In November 2015, European authorities took decisive action to shut down an infamous hacker group known as "Rocket Kitten," which is believed to be linked to the Revolutionary Guard.²⁰⁷

The IRGC's nefarious activities in the cyber realm – cyberattacks as well as censorship and other human rights abuses – are particularly relevant for telecommunications and technology companies that may be exploring opportunities in Iran.

Recommendations

Although the U.S. retains the legal edifice of sanctions against the IRGC, it is insufficient to exclude the Guard from the post-deal windfall. The JCPOA effectively shuts the door on re-imposing previous sanctions (other than in cases of a significant Iranian violation of the agreement), but there are numerous areas outside the scope of the JCPOA where the U.S. government, Congress, and the private sector can mitigate benefits to the IRGC.

Sanctions related to ballistic missiles, conventional weapons proliferation, terrorism, and human rights are not included in the nuclear agreement. However, Iran has insisted that it may "reconsider its commitments" under the JCPOA if new sanctions are imposed for any reason.²⁰⁸ Supreme Leader Khamenei affirmed that the Islamic Republic believes any sanctions, including those under the "fabricated pretext of terrorism and human rights," to be a violation of the nuclear deal.²⁰⁹

U.S. administration officials, however, have correctly explained that Washington is not limited by the JCPOA in its use of targeted economic sanctions to combat Iran's support for terrorism, other illicit activities, or regional destabilization.²¹⁰ While significant economic pressure has been lifted and while the nuclear deal is a game-changing development for the Iranian economy, the U.S. still has leverage to impose non-nuclear sanctions on individuals, entities, and entire sectors of the economy involved in illicit activities.

A comprehensive strategy involving all tools of American national power is necessary to combat and roll back Iranian terrorism and regional aggression. The following recommendations focus only on economic tools rather than the full arsenal of military, covert, cyber, and diplomatic instruments – which are beyond the scope of this report. Indeed, the use of economic sanctions should not replace but rather complement the deployment of these other elements of statecraft.

For the Current and Next U.S. Administration:

1. Sanction the IRGC for terrorism

The State Department maintains a list of Foreign Terrorist Organizations (FTO) that pose a threat to U.S. nationals and national security.²¹¹ Treasury also issues sanctions and designations under Executive Order 13224 against entities and individuals engaged in the planning or funding of terrorism.²¹² There is little doubt that the IRGC has engaged in terrorist activity against U.S. nationals and service members and threatened the national security of the United States.

** Treasury has designated the Quds Force for its role in terrorism under Executive Order 13224 and for supporting the Assad regime's repression in Syria. Treasury should extend those designations to the entire Revolutionary Guard, as it is ultimately responsible for the actions of the Quds Force...?

To date, the State Department has not designated the IRGC or its Quds Force as a Foreign Terrorist Organization. The United States has traditionally not designated a state organ under this authority.²¹³ However, Treasury has designated the Quds Force for its role in terrorism under Executive Order 13224²¹⁴ and for supporting the Assad regime's repression in Syria.²¹⁵ Treasury should extend those designations to the entire Revolutionary Guard, as it is ultimately responsible for the actions of the Quds Force and because the regular IRGC ground forces have become expeditionary forces like the Quds Force.²¹⁶ Such a step would bring additional scrutiny to the vast financial network of the IRGC and bring additional pressure to bear.

2. Designate additional IRGC subsidiaries and individuals under nonproliferation and human rights authorities

The subsidiaries of designated Iranian companies are all under sanctions, and no company or financial institution is likely to risk transacting with an entity on a U.S. or EU sanctions list. In theory, Iranian entities that are not listed may still draw enhanced scrutiny from anti-money laundering and compliance authorities. In practice, however, the global business community looks to the U.S. Treasury for guidance. It is therefore important that all subsidiaries of IRGC companies be sanctioned and that these designations be publicized.

Given the ubiquity of the IRGC in Iran's economy, exposing as many companies as possible could go a long way toward addressing this problem in practical terms. The more companies are publicly linked to the IRGC, the likelier governments will be to designate them. Meanwhile, exposure will alert the business community of the risks involved in doing business with Iranian entities without significantly enhanced due diligence to ensure there are no ownership connections to sanctioned entities.

Additionally, there are numerous IRGC officials who have been designated by the European Union for human rights abuses but have escaped designation by the United States. The EU has also designated IRGC commanders involved in nuclear and ballistic missile-related activities who have not been similarly designated by the United States.²¹⁷ While these officials are unlikely to have assets under U.S. jurisdiction, their addition to U.S. sanctions lists would have symbolic value and emphasize that Washington will continue to highlight Iran's appalling human rights record and its illegal weapons development. Treasury should investigate these individuals with an eye toward imposing sanctions.

3. Designate companies with IRGC beneficial ownership

The majority equity-stake threshold for designation as IRGC-owned or controlled should be re-examined. Currently, Treasury uses the 50-percent threshold to determine IRGC ownership, but a 25-percent threshold would better reflect global standards and Treasury's own recommendations. In early May 2016, Treasury announced the final rule requiring financial institutions in the United States to "identify and verify the identity of any individual who owns 25 percent or more of a legal entity, and an individual who controls the legal entity."²¹⁸ At the spring 2016 International Monetary Fund meetings, Treasury Secretary Jack Lew emphasized that requiring financial institutions to identify beneficial owners would help combat the "misuse of companies."²¹⁹

threshold reflects А 25-percent also the recommendations of the global anti-money laundering and counter-terrorism finance body, the Financial Action Task Force (FATF), which notes, "A controlling ownership interest depends on the ownership structure of the company. It may be based on a threshold, e.g. any person owning more than a certain percentage of the company (e.g. 25%)."220 While not specifically requiring the use of the 25-percent threshold, FATF's language implies that that figure is a recommended standard. Lowering Treasury's designation threshold to that number would put sanctions designations in line with global anti-money laundering standards. If the criteria for designation were changed, many additional entities might be eligible for sanctions. Lowering the threshold would likely also generate greater public scrutiny and enhanced due diligence procedures by the private sector.

There is also precedent in U.S. law for defining "owned or controlled" to include not only a majority equity share, but also a majority of seats on the board of directors or an ability "to otherwise control the actions, policies, or personnel decisions."²²¹ That is, if one entity controls a majority of another's board, the former is said to own or control the latter. In the case of IRGC ownership, the use of these criteria would expand the number of entities eligible for sanctions and more accurately reflect the IRGC's influence in the Iranian economy.

4. Create an IRGC Watch List

As protector of the integrity of the global financial system, the U.S. Treasury has a duty to expose Iranian companies' connections to the IRGC. As Treasury has stated, targeting the IRGC's core commercial interests undermines its "ability to continue using these interests to facilitate its proliferation activities and other illicit conduct."²²²

This could be implemented through the creation of an "IRGC Watch List." The list would include entities that do not meet the threshold for designation but have demonstrable connections to the IRGC. The list could be maintained by Treasury or another government agency, such as the Government Accountability Office (GAO), that can evaluate public and classified information on companies that may be used as fronts for the IRGC. As the Guard continues to evolve and its economic influence becomes increasingly sophisticated, enforcement must also evolve. The criteria for inclusion on the IRGC Watch List should be flexible to account for that evolving role.

Exposing seemingly legitimate Iranian enterprises' links to the IRGC can go a long way to reducing the Guard's ability to fund its illegal activities. This Watch List would also be a critical resource for risk compliance officers who want to limit their company's exposure to bad actors.

5. Communicate that sanctions on the IRGC remain intact and will be enforced

A decade ago, as Treasury developed its economic sanctions tools against Iran, officials held hundreds of meetings with leaders of foreign governments and heads of major financial institutions and multilateral companies.²²³ Treasury officials presented detailed information on Iran's illicit activities and examples of suspicious transactions.²²⁴ The information campaign effectively conditioned the environment to reject Iranian transactions.

Even as significant international sanctions are suspended by the JCPOA, sanctions on Guard companies and commanders remain intact. Foreign companies that engage in business with IRGC enterprises may be sanctioned under U.S. law and can be banned from U.S. markets. Treasury needs to emphasize that sanctions on the IRGC remain in place and will be fully enforced.

⁶⁶Foreign companies that engage in business with IRGC enterprises may be sanctioned under U.S. law and can be banned from U.S. markets. Treasury needs to emphasize that sanctions on the IRGC remain in place and will be fully enforced.⁹⁹

Treasury's guidance regarding Implementation Day warned that foreign financial institutions may be subject to "correspondent or payable-through account secondary sanctions" if they knowingly facilitate significant financial transactions for entities that remain on the Specially Designated Nationals (SDN) list, including (but not limited to) the IRGC.²²⁵ In addition, Treasury should engage in a private and public awareness campaign to ensure that foreign financial institutions and other companies understand the risks and liabilities of such activity.

6. Push back against the Revolutionary Guard in Syria

Max Peck, a Foundation for Defense of Democracies' research analyst, has done extensive research on Iran's role in Syria, another leading state sponsor of terrorism. He notes that the United States can weaken the IRGC in Syria by, among other steps, targeting its proxies there. In particular, he recommends devoting "greater intelligence capabilities to thwart[ing] Iran's attempts to recruit Shiite fighters."²²⁶ Using the model of the Hezbollah International Financing Prevention Act of 2015,²²⁷ he also recommends sanctioning any bank that knowingly works with Iranian proxy militias in Syria.²²⁸ Maintaining pressure on Iran for its actions in Syria will increase the costs to the IRGC for its actions that perpetuate the conflict.

IRGC scholar Ali Alfoneh has extensively documented the role and presence of IRGC forces (including IRGC units of Pakistani and Afghani soldiers) in the civil war in Syria.²²⁹ Washington should designate those units involved in Syria under authorities targeting individuals and entities that support the Assad regime. The United States should also develop initiatives with Pakistan and Afghanistan to stem the flow of Shiite fighters to IRGC units.

Finally, the administration should expand sanctions against Iranian airlines and front companies that carry weapons, equipment, and personnel to aid Iran's efforts in Syria. These include front companies for Mahan, Meraj, and Caspian Airlines, all of which remain under U.S. sanctions but have not been similarly sanctioned by Europe. Administration officials have testified before Congress that the United States is "actively engaged to try to prevent Mahan Air from being able to fly."230 Washington should take legal action to impound the aircraft of designated companies landing at European airports and impose secondary sanctions on firms providing ground services to those companies.²³¹ The U.S. should further consider sanctions against any foreign company providing replacement parts or dualuse items to these airlines.

7. Target corruption and kleptocracy

Building on the work of the Justice Department's Kleptocracy Asset Recovery Initiative, the U.S. should initiate efforts to allocate resources and develop additional authorities to target the assets of those who benefit from corruption.

The intelligence community should be tasked with collecting information on corruption involving IRGC-linked companies and individuals, and locating their assets. Treasury can then use this information to freeze the assets or target the relevant individuals with travel bans. The objective would be to locate ill-gotten assets as soon as they enter the formal financial system. Additionally, working with U.S. allies, these travel bans could extend to all G20 countries, thus raising the costs of corruption. The U.S. can also leverage international organizations like FATF, the G20 Anti-Corruption Working Group, and the World Bank's Stolen Asset Recovery Initiative to draw attention to corruption in Iran.

The U.S. should also consider the creation of a specific office within Treasury as a center of economic policy resources to address corruption. This office would dovetail with the Justice Department's efforts to recover and repatriate assets, and with the work done by the State Department's Bureau of International Narcotics and Law Enforcement Affairs aimed at building transparency in public institutions.

For Congress:

Over the past decade, Congress has developed evermore complex and impactful sanctions against Iran, targeting its nuclear program and support for terrorism, and to a lesser extent its human rights abuses. These congressional efforts arguably convinced the Iranian leadership to engage in nuclear negotiations. To prevent the benefits of sanctions relief from flowing to the most dangerous elements of the Iranian regime, Congress should enhance non-nuclear sanctions, increase the enforcement of remaining sanctions, and deny benefits to companies doing business with the most dangerous elements of the regime.

1. Require updated reporting on IRGC penetration in the Iranian economy

The Iran Freedom and Counter-Proliferation Act of 2012 requires the president to provide a report to Congress every 180 days on "which sectors of the economy of Iran are controlled directly or indirectly by Iran's Revolutionary Guard Corps."²³² Congress can update this requirement so that the president must provide not only an assessment of which sectors are controlled by the IRGC, but also an evaluation of the Guard's penetration into key sectors of Iran's economy. This report should include an analysis of the most significant sectors for Iran's GDP, as well as a list of the largest companies in that sector and their links to the Guard. The report should also provide a qualitative and quantitative assessment of the IRGC's involvement in each sector.

Congress can then create sector-based sanctions targeting any sector of the economy in which companies with IRGC beneficial ownership and/or companies on the IRGC Watch List control at least one-third (for example) of the market share. These sanctions could build on the precedent that Congress and the administration set of targeting sectors connected to Tehran's nuclear program, as well as the sector-based sanctions Treasury developed against Russia in response to its annexation of Crimea two years ago.

In the Iran Threat Reduction and Syria Human Rights Act of 2012, Congress required the GAO to provide a report listing all foreign investors in the Iranian energy sector.²³³ Similarly, Congress should require the GAO to report on all foreign investors in the sectors identified by the U.S. Treasury as having at least one-third of their market value controlled by IRGC companies.

2. Require reporting on joint ventures with Iran and transactions with IRGC watch list companies

The Iran Threat Reduction and Syria Human Rights Act of 2012 requires companies that file reports with the Securities and Exchange Commission to note any transactions with sanctioned entities or the Iranian government unless the company received specific authorization from the U.S. government.²³⁴ To address the IRGC's role in Iran's economy, Congress can amend this report to require companies to include: 1) any business in sectors with greater than one-third IRGC penetration; 2) any joint ventures with public or private Iranian companies (as even so-called private companies are often influenced or controlled by the IRGC); and 3) transactions with companies on the IRGC Watch List. Congress can mandate that any company that does not provide timely and accurate reports - and does not amend previous reports when new information emerges about potential IRGC-linked partners - will be fined according to the value of the project or trade deal.

3. Declare that U.S. policy views the IRGC as one organization responsible for all of its subsidiaries

Congress should declare that it is the policy of the United States to view the Guard as a single organization. To date, the U.S. government has quarantined the actions of one branch of the IRGC, the Quds Force, stating that it is responsible for terrorism, but that the organization as a whole is not. This runs counter to other U.S. policies, such as its argument against Europe's view that Hezbollah has a military arm and non-military arm.²³⁵ In that case, Washington has argued against this distinction, recognizing that the money is fungible, the branches are intertwined, and the leadership is the same. This should be similarly reflected in how the U.S. views the IRGC. Congress should declare that any transaction with a part of the IRGC is the same as transacting with

any other part of the IRGC. And any activity by the Quds Force will be attributed to the IRGC as a whole.

4. Declare that it is U.S. policy that members of the IRGC will be perceived as such for life

The Revolutionary Guard is an "old boys club" whose alumni receive benefits and promote its agenda long after they retire. Congress should declare that even officials who retire from active service are considered members of the Guard. This policy would accurately reflect the IRGC's pervasive influence in Iran's economy and create another opening to designate additional individuals, including prosecutors in Iran's court system who use their positions of power and ties to the IRGC to commit human rights abuses.

5. Require additional reporting on IRGC activity and investment in Europe and Asia

Building on the model set by the Countering Iran in the Western Hemisphere Act of 2012,²³⁶ Congress should require additional reporting from the State Department and the U.S. Treasury Department on activities and investments made by the IRGC throughout Europe and Asia on a yearly basis. This information should be provided to Congress in an unclassified report that would include known foreign investment in IRGC companies, and also detail known purchases and business ventures that European or Asian firms engage in. With the de-listing of many entities along with the end of EU sanctions, lawmakers should have accurate information on what new business and trading opportunities are being taken advantage of by the IRGC.

6. Require the U.S. Trade Representative to reject IRGC-linked financing in trade talks

As the Transatlantic Trade and Investment Partnership (TTIP)²³⁷ is negotiated between the U.S. and the EU,

Congress can help limit the exposure of U.S. companies to exploitation by IRGC-controlled entities in Europe. In negotiations with the EU, Congress can require that the U.S. Trade Representative make the rejection of IRGC-linked financing an objective of the negotiations. In February 2016, members of the House Financial Services Committee Task Force to Investigate Terrorism Financing wrote a letter to the Trade Representative and the president urging them to include trade-based money laundering concerns in the negotiations and create Trade Transparency Units (TTUs) to coordinate between U.S. and EU law enforcement and customs agencies.²³⁸ Along those lines, Congress could require the Trade Representative to prioritize transparency with EU member states by ensuring that EU states provide information on their current exposure to IRGC-linked companies separately or as part of the TTUs.

7. Require reporting on Iran's support for the Assad regime and IRGC activities in Syria

Congress should require regular reporting from the administration on Iran's activities in Syria. This report should detail which IRGC units are actively participating in the Syrian war and what assistance they provide to the Assad regime. It should also explain what types of support (provision of arms, financial support, intelligence sharing, and military strategy) Iran provides, including support that comes in the form of energy supplies, loans, lines of credit, and cash.²³⁹

Congress can also authorize sanctions against entities that are aiding the IRGC's efforts in Syria. In the case of Mahan Air, in addition to authorizing secondary sanctions against companies that provide services (financial services and ground services, including fueling), Congress can require the administration to report on who provides financial services when its aircraft land at international destinations. Moreover, airlines pay for ground services locally, usually transacting through a local bank. Congress could require airlines to receive certification from their banks that they do not provide financial services to Mahan Air.

8. Sanction Iranian leaders involved in corruption and kleptocracy

Congress should consider legislation targeting corruption in all state sponsors of terrorism. The link between the funds generated from corruption and the sponsorship of terrorism by these regimes is well-documented. The pending Global Magnitsky Human Rights Accountability Act is one mechanism that could be used to target corruption in Iran. That legislation, which passed the Senate in December 2015 and still requires action by the House of Representatives, authorizes sanctions not only against human rights violators but also government officials and their associates responsible for corruption.²⁴⁰

Although IRGC members are unlikely to seek travel to the United States or transact directly with U.S. financial institutions, being publicly assigned to a Global Magnitsky sanctions list would raise their profiles among global compliance officers and make it more difficult for them to do business internationally.

9. Expand human rights sanctions

To date, U.S. sanctions against Iranian human rights abusers have primarily targeted individuals, with the exception of the IRGC, its Basij force, the National Police Force, Ministry of Intelligence and Security, and a very few companies. Unlike Europe, the United States has not sanctioned prosecutors and court officials, many of whom are current or former members of the IRGC. Congress should encourage Treasury to examine all EU designations with the goal of reconciling discrepancies and adding missing individuals to U.S. sanctions list.

At the same time, Congress should expand human rights sanctions authorities to broaden the definition of those

responsible for human rights abuses to include state institutions, such as prisons or military bases, where abuses like torture and arbitrary detention occur. Many of these institutions or their branches are controlled by the Guard, such as the notorious Evin prison's Ward 2A for political prisoners.²⁴¹ Any foreign company engaging in transactions with these entities or individuals who work for them could also be liable for secondary sanctions.

For the Private Sector:

Navigating economic sanctions on the Islamic Republic – both those that have been lifted and those that remain – is a legal and reputational minefield for international companies. Although America's primary trade embargo against Iran will continue banning U.S. persons from conducting business with most Iranian entities, doing business with Tehran is now much easier than before January 16, 2016. Foreign companies will need to ensure that their transactions do not transit through New York, because Iran is banned from conducting any transactions in the United States – including "momentary transaction to … dollarize a foreign payment," or U-turn transactions.²⁴²

The Obama administration has actively engaged with the international business community to clarify that certain business with Iran is permitted. Secretary of State John Kerry has even stated, "[A]s long as [banks] do their normal due diligence ... they're not going to be held to some undefined and inappropriate standard."243 This, however, conflicts with Washington's designation of Iran and its entire financial sector as a jurisdiction of primary money laundering concern.²⁴⁴ This designation requires U.S. banks and U.S. branches of foreign banks to impose "special measures" against Iran and prohibits the opening of correspondent accounts that transact with Iran.²⁴⁵ Additionally, under U.S. law, any foreign financial institution engaged in "significant financial transactions" with banks that remain under U.S. sanctions "will risk losing its access to the U.S. financial system," Treasury Secretary Lew explained.²⁴⁶ Foreign banks have thus been justifiably wary of working with the Iranian financial sector. $^{\rm 247}$

The potential for the re-imposition of sanctions in the event of Iranian nuclear non-compliance –combined with Iran's continued support for terrorism, assistance to Assad, and systemic human rights abuses – should raise additional concerns for foreign companies looking to engage in business with Iran.

Companies should avoid trade and investment in Iran. For those companies that assume the risks of doing business there, the following recommendations are suggested:

1. Enhance due diligence

Risk and compliance officers should implement enhanced due diligence procedures to ensure their companies do not run afoul of remaining restrictions. The end of sanctions does not mean the end of legal, regulatory, or business risk – in fact, as sanctions are reduced, risk increases.

For the immediate future, the biggest challenge for foreign companies considering investing in Iran comes from counter-party risk. Foreign companies that reenter the Iranian market are likely to unknowingly enter into business and financial transactions with Iranian entities owned or controlled by the IRGC. Companies need to protect themselves from unwittingly partnering with sanctioned entities.

2. Require certification from Iranian partners that they are not IRGC-linked

Foreign companies should demand that their Iranian partners provide certification that the company is not owned or controlled by the IRGC and that their shareholders do not include IRGC individuals or firms. For foreign companies requiring a license from Treasury's Office of Foreign Assets Control, this certification could be included in the licensing process.

3. Demand an exclusion clause to withdraw from contracts with parties with IRGC connections

Foreign companies should demand an exclusion clause in all Iranian contracts so they may end commercial activities if they discover their partners have IRGC connections. Iranian firms frequently obscure their ownership, and as a result even a foreign company that exercises robust due diligence may find its partner designated by the U.S. or EU. Companies should ensure they have a way to nullify their contracts if this occurs.

Conclusion

As the 2015 nuclear deal is implemented, it is the IRGC that is poised to benefit most. The Guard controls roughly 40 percent of the Iranian economy, and sanctions that once greatly inhibited economic growth are either now nonexistent or are set to expire. At its core, the agreement was intended to engineer moderate change among Tehran's decision makers before the key limitation on Iranian nuclear activities expires in a decade. But the economic and political benefits set to accrue to the IRGC leave little reason to believe that will occur. Indeed, the JCPOA empowers those within the Iranian power structure who are most aggressive in their pursuit of policies antithetical to U.S. national interests: the IRGC.

A robust defense of U.S. national security does not by definition require Washington to "tear up" the nuclear agreement. But it does demand that policymakers address the unintended – but foreseeable – impact that sanctions relief has on the IRGC's ability to fund its nefarious activities. Aggressive use of economic sanctions against IRGC companies and individuals should be the start – certainly not the end – of an American strategy to push back against Tehran's ongoing dangerous conduct at home, throughout the region, and around the world.

Notes

1. "Corruption by Country/Territory: Iran," *Transparency International*, accessed February 12, 2016. (https://www.transparency.org/country/#IRN); "Basel AML Index 2016 Report," *Basel Institute on Governance*, July 27, 2016. (https://index. baselgovernance.org/sites/index/documents/Basel_AML_Index_ Report_2016.pdf)

2. For additional analysis on the sanctions relief in the JCPOA, see Mark Dubowitz, "Implications of Sanctions Relief under the Iran Agreement," Testimony before the Senate Committee on Banking, Housing, and Urban Affairs, August 5, 2015. (http:// www.defenddemocracy.org/content/uploads/documents/ Dubowitz_Banking_Iran_Sanctions_Relief.pdf); Mark Dubowitz, "Iran Terror Financing and the Tax Code," Testimony before the House Ways and Means Subcommittee on Oversight, November 4, 2015. (http://www.defenddemocracy.org/content/uploads/documents/Dubowitz_Iran_Terror_Financing_and_the_Tax_Code. pdf); Juan Zarate, "Implication of Sanctions Relief Under the Iran Agreement," Testimony before the Senate Committee on Banking, Housing, and Urban Affairs, August 5, 2015. (http://www.defenddemocracy.org/content/uploads/documents/Zarate_Banking_ Iran_Sanctions_Relief.pdf); Mark Dubowitz and Annie Fixler, "Impact of Sanctions Relief: On Western Compliance," The Cipher Brief, November 2, 2015. (https://www.thecipherbrief.com/article/ western-compliance)

3. Joint Comprehensive Plan of Action, Annex V – Implementation Plan, Vienna, July 14, 2015. (<u>http://www.state.</u> gov/documents/organization/245324.pdf)

4. Afshon Ostovar, *Vanguard of the Imam: Religion, Politics, and Iran's Revolutionary Guards*, (New York: Oxford University Press, 2016), pages 121-140.

5. Karim Sadjadpour, *Reading Khamenei: The Worldview of Iran's Most Powerful Leader*, (Washington, DC: Carnegie Endowment for International Peace, 2009), pages 14-27. (<u>http://carneg-</u> <u>ieendowment.org/files/sadjadpour_iran_final2.pdf</u>); Mehdi Khallaji, *Tightening the Reins: How Khamenei Makes Decisions*, (Washington, DC: The Washington Institute for Near East Policy, 2014), pages 1-15. (<u>http://www.washingtoninstitute.org/uploads/</u> Documents/pubs/PolicyFocus126_Khalaji.pdf)

6. See Ali Alfoneh, Iran Unveiled: How the Revolutionary Guards is Transforming Iran from a Theocracy Into a Military Dictatorship, (Washington, DC: AEI Press, 2013); Emanuele Ottolenghi, The Pasdaran: Inside Iran's Islamic Revolutionary Guard Corps, (Washington, DC: FDD Press, 2011); Afshon Ostovar, Vanguard of the Imam: Religions, Politics, and Iran's Revolutionary Guards, (New York: Oxford University Press, 2016). 7. Will Fulton, "The IRGC Command Network: Formal Structures and Informal Influence," *American Enterprise Institute's Critical Threats Project*, 2013. (http://www.irantracker.org/sites/ default/files/pdf_upload/analysis/The_IRGC_Command_ Network.pdf)

8. Kayhan, a leading hardliner newspaper, ran its headline on September 23, 2009 – not long after the Green Movement protests - with a quote from a commander: "The Sacred Defense is the سردار فضلي: دفاع" ".best historical period of the Islamic Republic Commander Fazli: The) مقدس بهترین دور ان تاریخ انقلاب اسلامی است Sacred Defense Is the Best Historical Era of the Islamic Republic)," Kayhan (Iran), September 23, 2009. (http://kayhanarch.kayhan. ir/880701/3.htm#other303); Qassem Soleimani, commander of the Quds Force, recently said, "The battlefield is mankind's lost paradise - the paradise in which morality and human conduct Paradise in the بهشت در نگاه قاسم سلیمانی" ".Paradise in the View of Qassem Soleimani)," You Tube, September 10, 2014. (https://www.youtube.com/watch?v=I4BU4ocpnk8); For more on the centrality of the war to Iranian thinking, see Behnam Taleblu, "The Long Shadow of the Iran-Iraq War," The National Interest, October 23, 2014. (http://nationalinterest.org/feature/ the-long-shadow-the-iran-iraq-war-11535?page=2) 9. For more, see Roxanne Varzi, Warring Souls: Youth, Media, and Martyrdom in Post-Revolution Iran, (USA: Duke University Press, 2006); Omid Memarian, "The Youth," Iran Primer, accessed April 19, 2016. (http://iranprimer.usip.org/resource/youth) The) ورود سپاه به اقتصاد خواست هاشمی برای کمک به دو آتها بود" . Guard Entering the Economy Was the Wish of Hashemi to Help the Government)," Mehr News (Iran) May 5, 2010. (http://www. mehrnews.com/fa/newsdetail.aspx?NewsID=1067961); Mohsen The IRGC and)) سپاه وسه انحر اف « اول مرداد هشتادو پنج " Sazegara, Three Aberrations)," Mohsen Sazegara, July 23, 2006. (http://www. sazegara.net/persian/archives/2006/07/060723_154435.html) 11. Mohsen Sazegara, "سپاه وسه انحر اف اول مرداد هشتادو پنج (The Guard and Three Deviations)," Mohsen Sazegara, July 23, 2006. (http://www.sazegara.net/persian/ archives/2006/07/060723_154435.html)

12. Frederic Wehrey, Jerrold D. Green, Brian Nichiporuk, Alireza Nader, Lydia Hansell, Rasool Nafisi, and S. R. Bohandy, "The Rise of the Pasdaran: Assessing the Domestic Roles of Iran's Islamic Revolutionary Guards Corps," *The RAND Corporation*, 2009, pages 59-60. (http://www.rand.org/content/dam/rand/pubs/monographs/2008/RAND_MG821.pdf)

13. "Iran's Crude Oil Export Chain and the Islamic Revolutionary Guard Corps (IRGC)," *Confidential report by Arcanum commissioned by the Foundation for Defense of Democracies*, February 2011.

كودتاي اقتصادي بيش از كودتاي انتخاباتي: " . Jamshid-e Assadi Economic Coup D'état Before) ماجر اي اشغال فرودگاه امام خميني Political Coup D'état)," Gooya News (Belgium), September 21, 2009. (http://news.gooya.com/columnists/archives/093905.php) 15. Ali Alfoneh, "The Revolutionary Guards' Looting of Iran's Economy," American Enterprise Institute, June 23, 2010. (https://www.aei.org/publication/ the-revolutionary-guards-looting-of-irans-economy/) 16. Ali Alfoneh, "All the Guard's Men: Iran's Silent Revolution," World Affairs Journal, September 2010. (http:// www.worldaffairsjournal.org/article/all-guards-menirans-silent-revolution); Ali Alfoneh, "The Revolutionary Guards' Looting of Iran's Economy," American Enterprise Institute, June 23, 2010. (https://www.aei.org/publication/ the-revolutionary-guards-looting-of-irans-economy/) 17. Constitution of the Islamic Republic of Iran 1979 (as last amended on July 28, 1989), Preamble. (http://www.wipo.int/ edocs/lexdocs/laws/en/ir/ir001en.pdf) 18. An anthology of Khomeini's body of work: http://jamaran. ىا_امام/صحىفه_امام_خمىنى/ir/fa 19. Amir Toumaj, "Iran's Economy of Resistance: Implications for Future Sanctions," American Enterprise Institute, November 2014. (http://www.irantracker.org/sites/default/files/imce-images/ToumajA_Irans-Resistance-Economy-Implications_november2014.pdf) 20. Amir Toumaj, "Iran's Economy of Resistance: Implications for Future Sanctions," American Enterprise Institute, November 2014. (http://www.irantracker.org/sites/default/files/imce-images/ToumajA_Irans-Resistance-Economy-Implications_novem-The Drip-Drip) برداشتن قطر مچكاني تحريمها"; (The Drip-Drip Lifting of Sanctions)," Jam News (Iran), March 29, 2016. تئورىھاى"; (http://www.jamnews.ir/detail/News/649725); Western Liberal) اقتصادی لیبر الیسم غربی راه حل مشکلات جامعه نیست

Economic Theories Are Not the Society's Solution)," *Tasnim News* (Iran), March 30, 2016. (<u>http://www.tasnimnews.com/fa/</u> <u>news/1395/01/11/1035984/- مور-ما-ماليراليسم-غربی-راه-مل-ماليراليسم-مرحى- مشكلات-جامعه-نيست-برخی-همه-مشكلات-كشور-را-براساس-سيستم-آمريكايی-می-</u> (خواهند-برطرف-كنند

21. This is how the IRGC describes the resistance economy and its own role in it: "As a parallel economy, the resistance economy is a shape of the Islamic revolution. This means that just as the Islamic revolution led to the establishment of institutions with revolutionary spirit and performance such as the relief committee, IRGC, construction jihad, etc. in order to fulfill its needs, it must continue and complete the project of securing the revolution's goals. The Islamic revolution needs the resistance economy and resistance institutionalization in the economy. Formal economic institutions may not be capable of doing this. So it must create a parallel institution for this special project, meaning we need a parallel economy in our country. ... Just as we use both

the Islamic Revolutionary Guard Corps and the army to defend the revolution." "هفته نامه صبح صادق (Sobh-e Sadegh Weekly)," *Sobh-e Sadegh* (Iran), April 4, 2016, page 6. (<u>http://ssweekly.ir/</u> comp/743/743.pdf)

22. Greg Bruno, Jayshree Bajoria, and Jonathan Masters, "Iran's Revolutionary Guard," *Council on Foreign Relations*, June 14, 2013. (http://www.cfr.org/iran/irans-revolutionary-guards/p14324); Emanuele Ottolenghi and Saeed Ghasseminejad, "Who Really Controls Iran's Economy?" *The National Interest*, May 20, 2015. (http://nationalinterest.org/feature/who-really-con-trols-irans-economy-12925); Frederic Wehrey, Jerrold D. Green, Brian Nichiporuk, Alireza Nader, Lydia Hansell, Rasool Nafisi, and S. R. Bohandy, "The Rise of the Pasdaran: Assessing the Domestic Roles of Iran's Islamic Revolutionary Guards Corps," *The RAND Corporation*, 2009. (http://www.rand.org/content/dam/rand/pubs/monographs/2008/RAND_MG821.pdf); Mark Gregory, "Expanding Business Empire of Iran's Revolutionary Guards," *BBC News* (UK), July 26, 2010. (http://www.bbc.com/news/world-middle-east-10743580)

23. Parisa Hafezi and Louis Charbonneau, "Iranian Nuclear Deal Set to Make Hardline Revolutionary Guards Richer," *Reuters*, July 6, 2015. (http://www.reuters.com/article/2015/07/06/ us-iran-nuclear-economy-insight-idUSKCN0PG1XV20150706)

24. U.S. Department of the Treasury, "Fact Sheet: Treasury Sanctions Major Iranian Commercial Entities," June 23, 2011. (http://www.treasury.gov/press-center/press-releases/Pages/ tg1217.aspx)

25. U.S. Department of State, "Joint Statement on Iran Sanctions," June 23, 2011. (http://www.state.gov/r/pa/prs/ps/2011/06/166814.htm); U.S. Department of State, "Treasury Targets Iran's Islamic Revolutionary Guard Corps," February 10, 2010. (http://www.state.gov/r/pa/prs/ps/2010/02/136595.htm); U.S. Department of the Treasury, "Fact Sheet: Treasury Sanctions Major Iranian Commercial Entities," June 23, 2011. (http://www.treasury.gov/press-center/press-releases/Pages/tg1217.aspx)
26. U.S. Department of the Treasury, Press Release, "Treasury Submits Report to Congress on NIOC and NITC," September 24, 2012. (http://www.treasury.gov/press-center/press-cente

Pages/tg1718.aspx)

27. Data available upon request; Emanuele Ottolenghi, "The Iran Nuclear Deal and its Impact on Iran's Islamic Revolutionary Guards Corps, Appendix I and II," *Testimony before the House Foreign Affairs Middle East and North Africa Subcommittee*, September 17, 2015. (http://docs.house.gov/meetings/FA/ FA13/20150917/103958/HHRG-114-FA13-Wstate-OttolenghiE-20150917-SD001.pdf)

28. Information available via the Treasury Department's "Sanctions List Search" database, accessed on January 18, 2016 at http://sdnsearch.ofac.treas.gov/.

29. The Council of the European Union, "Council Regulation (EU) No 267/2012 of 23 March 2012 Concerning Restrictive Measures Against Iran and Repealing Regulation (EU) No 961/2010," Official Journal of the European Union, March 24, 2012. (http://eur-lex.europa.eu/legal-content/EN/ TXT/?qid=1406807228342&uri=CELEX:32012R0267); The Council of the European Union, "Council Implementing Regulation (EU) No 1264/2012 of 21 December 2012 Implementing Regulation (EU) No 267/2012 Concerning Restrictive Measures Against Iran," Official Journal of the European Union, December 22, 2012. (http://eur-lex.europa.eu/legal-content/EN/ TXT/?qid=1406811749063&uri=CELEX:32012R1264) 30. The Council of the European Union, "Council Regulation No 359/2011 of 12 April 2011," Official Journal of the European Union, as amended April 7, 2015. (http://eur-lex.europa.eu/ legal-content/EN/TXT/?uri=CELEX:02011R0359-20150409) 31. U.S. Department of the Treasury, Press Release, "Treasury Announces New Sanctions Against Iran," May 23, 2013. (https://www.treasury.gov/press-center/press-releases/Pages/ jl1955.aspx)

32. U.S. Department of State, Office of the Spokesperson, "United States Takes Action to Facilitate Communications by the Iranian People and Targets Iranian Government Censorship," May 30, 2013. (<u>http://www.state.gov/r/pa/prs/</u> ps/2013/05/210102.htm)

33. Masood Merhdadi represents the IRGC Cooperative آگهی تصمیمات" . Foundation on the board of directors Bulletin) شركت مهندسي افق توسعه صابرين سهامي خاص for Decisions Made by Ofogh Saberin Engineering Development Company)," Iranian Official Journal, November 5, 2011. (http://www.gazette.ir/Detail. asp?NewsID=985125894517389&paperID=910608650781836) 34. Thomas Erdbrink, "In Iran, State-Backed Companies Win from Lifted Sanctions," The New York Times, February 5, 2016. (http://www.nytimes.com/2016/02/06/world/middleeast/ in-iran-state-backed-companies-win-from-lifted-sanctions.html) 35. Babak Dehghanpisheh and Yeganeh Torbati, "Firms linked to Revolutionary Guards to win sanctions relief under Iran deal," Reuters, August 9, 2015. (http://www.reuters.com/article/ us-iran-nuclear-sanctions-idUSKCN0QE08320150809); 36. Emanuele Ottolenghi, "The Iran Deal Rewards Airlines that Served as IRGC Terror Fronts," Foundation for Defense of Democracies, August 13, 2015. (http://www.defenddemocracy. org/media-hit/emanuele-ottolenghi-the-iran-deal-rewards-airlinesthat-served-as-irgc-terror-fronts/); Emanuele Ottolenghi and Saeed Ghasseminejad, "The IRGC's Sanctions Relief Bonanza," Foundation for Defense of Democracies, August 13, 2015. (http:// www.defenddemocracy.org/media-hit/emanuele-ottolenghi-the-irgcs-sanctions-relief-bonanza/); Emanuele Ottolenghi,

"Under Iran Agreement, U.S. Will Delist All Entities Controlled by Supreme Leader," *Foundation for Defense of Democracies*, July 27, 2015. (http://www.defenddemocracy.org/media-hit/ottolenghi-ghasseminejad-us-will-delist-entities-controlled-by-khamenei/) **37.** Saeed Ghasseminejad, "Iran's Ballistic Missile Program and Economic Sanctions," *Foundation for Defense of Democracies*, March 2016. (http://www.defenddemocracy.org/content/

uploads/documents/Ballistic_Missile_Sanctions.pdf)

38. "Annual National Accounts," *The Central Bank of Iran*, accessed March 14, 2016. (http://www.cbi.ir/simplelist/5796.aspx)
39. "Drilling of South Yaran Oil Field Kicked Off," *Petroleum Engineering and Development Company*, August 1, 2013. (http://pedec.ir/en/detail=2510)

40. "South Yaran Operational by March 2016," *Fars News* (Iran), August 3, 2015. (<u>http://english.farsnews.com/newstext.</u> aspx?nn=13940511000976)

41. U.S. Department of the Treasury, "JCPOA-related Designation Removals, JCPOA Designation Updates, Foreign Sanctions Evaders Removals, NS-ISA List Removals; 13599 List Changes," January 16, 2016. (https://www.treasury. gov/resource-center/sanctions/OFAC-Enforcement/Pages/ updated_names.aspx); European Union, "Information Note on EU sanctions to be lifted under the Joint Comprehensive Plan of Action (JCPOA)," January 23, 2016, pages 32-33. (http://eeas.europa.eu/top_stories/pdf/iran_implementation/ information_note_eu_sanctions_jcpoa_en.pdf)

42. Maysam Bizær, "Iran Holds Trump Card on Oil: Petrochemicals," *Al Monitor*, January 22, 2015. (<u>http://www.al-monitor.com/pulse/originals/2015/01/iran-oil-petrochemicals.html</u>)

43. Emanuele Ottolenghi and Saeed Ghasseminejad, "The Geneva Joint Plan of Action and Iran's Petrochemical Sector," *Foundation for Defense of Democracies*, December 9, 2013. (http://www.defenddemocracy.org/media-hit/ the-geneva-joint-plan-of-action-and-irans-petrochemical-sector/)

44. "منابع بتروشيمي كرمانشاه Industries)," *Tehran Securities Exchange Technology Management Company*, accessed August 8, 2016. (<u>http://www.tsetmc.com/</u>Loader.aspx?ParTree=151311&i=38437201078089290#)

45. (Pardis Petrochemical)," *Tehran Securities Exchange Technology Management Company*, accessed August 8, 2016. (<u>http://www.tsetmc.com/Loader.aspx?ParTree=15131</u> 1&i=20562694899904339#)

 46. "كسترش نفت و گاز پارسيان" (Parsian Oil and Gas Development Co.) – Sahamdaran (Shareholders)," Tehran Securities Exchange Technology Management Company, accessed August 8, 2016. (http://www.tsetmc.com/Loader.aspx?ParTree=15131

 1&xi=23441366113375722#)

 47. "تروشيميشيراز" Tehran Securities Exchange Technology Management Company, accessed August
 8, 2016. (http://www.tsetmc.com/Loader.aspx?ParTree=15131
 1&i=38568786927478796#)

48. "Missile Technology Control Regime (MTCR) Annex Handbook-2010," *The Missile Technology Control Regime*, August 25, 2010. (http://www.mtcr.info/english/MTCR_Annex_ Handbook_ENG.pdf)

49. "Missile Technology Control Regime (MTCR) Annex Handbook-2010," *The Missile Technology Control Regime*, August 25, 2010, pages 4-2, 4-10. (http://www.mtcr.info/english/MTCR_ Annex_Handbook_ENG.pdf). These composite propellants use synthetic rubber such as hydroxyl-terminated polybutadiene (HTPB), carboxyl-terminated polybutadiene (CTPB), polybutadiene-acrylic acid polymer (PBAA), or polybutadiene-acrylic acid acrylonitrile prepolymer (PBAN).

50. "توليد گرافيت با خلوص بالا در کشور (Iran Produced Highly Pure Graphite)," *Tabnak* (Iran), July 23, 2008. (<u>http://www.tabnak.ir/</u>fa/news/14257/توليد-گرافيت-با-خلوص-بالا-در-کشور/

51. Simon Henderson and Olli Heinonen, "Nuclear Iran: A Glossary," *The Washington Institute for Near East Policy and Harvard University's Belfer Center for Science and International Affairs*, March 2015. (https://www.washingtoninstitute.org/uploads/Documents/pubs/PF121-3rd-edition_HendersonHeinonenHR2.pdf); "Missile Technology Control Regime (MTCR) Annex Handbook-2010," *The Missile Technology Control Regime*, August 25, 2010. (http://www.mtcr.info/english/MTCR_Annex_Handbook_ENG.pdf)
52. United Nations Security Council, Resolution 1929, June 9, 2010. (http://www.un.org/en/ga/search/view_doc.asp?symbol=S/RES/1929%282010%29)

53. Executive Order 13590, "Iran Sanctions," November 21, 2011. (<u>https://www.whitehouse.gov/the-press-office/2011/11/21/</u>executive-order-13590-iran-sanctions)

54. The Council of the European Union, "Council Regulation (EU) No 267/2012 of 23 March 2012 Concerning Restrictive Measures against Iran and Repealing Regulation (EU) No 961/2010," *Official Journal of the European Union*, March 24, 2012. (http://eur-lex.europa.eu/legal-content/EN/TXT/?qid=1406807228342&uri=CELEX:32012R0267)

55. U.S. Department of the Treasury, Press Release, "U.S. Announces New Sanctions against Iran," May 31, 2013 (http://www.treasury.gov/press-center/press-releases/Pages/jl1965.aspx);
U.S. Department of State, Press Release, "Companies Sanctioned under Iran Sanctions Authorities," May 31, 2013. (http://www.state.gov/r/pa/prs/ps/2013/05/210147.htm)

56. Emanuele Ottolenghi and Saeed Ghasseminejad,
"Iran Sanctions Relief Sparks Growing Trade with Europe, Asia," *Foundation for Defense of Democracies*, March 27,
2015. (<u>http://www.defenddemocracy.org/media-hit/</u> Iran-sanctions-relief-sparks-growing-trade-with-Europe-Asia/) 57. U.S. Department of State, Office of the Spokesperson, "Guidance Relating to the Provision of Certain Temporary Sanctions Relief in Order to Implement the Joint Plan of Action Reached on November 24, 2013, Between the P5+1 and the Islamic Republic of Iran," January 20, 2014. (http://www.state. gov/p/nea/rls/220049.htm); The companies were: (1) Bandar Imam Petrochemical Company; (2) Bou Ali Sina Petrochemical Company; (3) Ghaed Bassir Petrochemical Products Company; (4) Iran Petrochemical Commercial Company; (5) Jam Petrochemical Company; (6) Marjan Petrochemical Company; (7) Mobin Petrochemical Company; (8) National Petrochemical Company; (9) Nouri Petrochemical Company; (10) Pars Petrochemical Company; (11) Sadaf Petrochemical Assaluyeh Company; (12) Shahid Tondgooyan Petrochemical Company; (13) Shazand Petrochemical Company; and (14) Tabriz Petrochemical Company. 58. Joint Comprehensive Plan of Action, Annex II - Sanctions related commitments, Vienna, July 14, 2015, paragraphs 1.2 and 4.3. (http://eeas.europa.eu/statements-eeas/docs/iran_agreement/ annex_2_sanctions_related_commitments_en.pdf)

59. "The Strategic Role of the Mining and Industry Sector in Iran's Economy," *Institute for Trade Studies and Research* (Iran), accessed March 5, 2016. (http://goo.gl/w8SkT0)

60. Emanuele Ottolenghi and Saeed Ghasseminejad, "Here's how to stop Iran's Revolutionary Guard from profiting off of the nuclear deal," *Business Insider*, October 7, 2015. (<u>http://www.businessin-sider.com/heres-how-to-stop-the-irans-revolutionary-guard-from-profiting-off-of-the-nuclear-deal-2015-10)</u>

61. "Industry and Mining – Overview," *Invest in Iran/ Organization for Investment Economic and Technical Assistance of Iran*, accessed September 13, 2015. (<u>http://www.investiniran.ir/en/</u> sectors/industry)

62. "Missile Technology Control Regime (MTCR) Annex Handbook-2010," *The Missile Technology Control Regime*, August 25, 2010, page 17-8. (<u>http://www.mtcr.info/english/MTCR_</u> Annex_Handbook_ENG.pdf)

63. (Iran Zinc Mines Development Company)," *Tehran Securities Exchange Technology Management Company*, accessed September 13, 2015. (http://www.tsetmc.com/Loader.aspx?ParTree=151311&i=22787503301679573); The

IRGC owns a combined 51.8 percent of IZMDCO through five companies: Mehr Eghtesad Financial Group (18.4 percent), Mehr Eghtesad Iranian Investment Company (18.39 percent), Tadbir Garan Atieh Iranian Investment Company (9.11 percent), Negin Sahel Royal Company (3.26 percent), and the mineral company Calcimin (2.65 percent).

64. "گذارش حسابرس مستقل نسبت به پیش بینی در آمد هر سهم منتهی" (Report of Independent Auditor on the Predicted Income of Every Share Until the End of 1394 – Iran Aluminum)," accessed March 15, 2016. Documents available upon request. **65.** U.S. Department of the Treasury, Press Release, "Fact Sheet: Treasury Sanctions Major Iranian Commercial Entities," June 23, 2011. (<u>http://www.treasury.gov/press-cen-</u> ter/press-releases/Pages/tg1217.aspx); U.S. Department of the Treasury, Press Release, "Fact Sheet: Treasury Designates Iranian Entities Tied to the IRGC and IRISL," December 21, 2010. (<u>https://www.treasury.gov/press-center/press-releases/</u> Pages/tg1010.aspx)

66. "نولاد مباركه اصفهان (Isfahan Mobarakeh Steel)," *Tehran Stock Exchange*, accessed September 15, 2015. (<u>http://new.tse.</u> ir/Instrument.html?IRO1FOLD0001)

67. "تكنوتار (Technotar)," *Tehran Stock Exchange*, accessed September 13, 2015. (<u>http://new.tse.ir/Instrument.</u> html?IRO1TKNO0001)

68. "توسعه معادن روي ايران (Iran Zinc Mines Development Co.)," Tehran Stock Exchange, accessed September 13, 2015. (http://new.tse.ir/Instrument.html?IRO1ROOI0001) 69. "Council Implementing Regulation (EU) No 1264/2012 of 21 December 2012 implementing Regulation (EU) No 267/2012 concerning restrictive measures against Iran," Official Journal of the European Union, December 22, 2012, pages 356-57, entry No. 6. (http://eur-lex.europa.eu/LexUriServ/ LexUriServ.do?uri=OJ:L:2012:356:0055:0060:en:PDF) 70. Louis Charbonneau, "Glencore bartered with firm linked to Iran nuclear program," Reuters, March 1, 2013. (http://www.reuters.com/article/ us-iran-sanctions-glencore-idUSBRE92007C20130301) 71. "Council Implementing Regulation (EU) No 1264/2012 of 21 December 2012 implementing Regulation (EU) No 267/2012 concerning restrictive measures against Iran," Official Journal of the European Union, December 22, 2012, page 356/57, entry 6. (http://eur-lex.europa.eu/LexUriServ/ LexUriServ.do?uri=OJ:L:2012:356:0055:0060:en:PDF) 72. Joint Comprehensive Plan of Action, Attachment 1 - Part I, Vienna, July 14, 2015. (http://eeas.europa. eu/statements-eeas/docs/iran_agreement/annex_2_sanctions_related_commitments_en.pdf); Judgment of the General Court, Iralco v. Council, Case T-158/13, September 15, 2015. (http://eur-lex.europa.eu/legal-content/EN/ TXT/?gid=1457905551354&uri=CELEX:62013TA0158) 73. Emanuele Ottolenghi and Saeed Ghasseminejad, "Sanctions Relief Under the JCPOA," Foundation for Defense of Democracies, February 23, 2015. (http://www.defenddemocracy.org/media-hit/ emanuele-ottolenghi-sanctions-relief-under-the-jpoa/) 74. "Bahman Group sells majority stake," Financial Tribune (Iran), June 30, 2016. (http://financialtribune.com/articles/ auto/44557/bahman-group-sells-majority-stake) 75. David Cohen, "Testimony of Under Secretary for Terrorism and Financial Intelligence David Cohen before the

Senate Committee on Banking, Housing and Urban Affairs on 'Iran Sanctions: Ensuring Robust Enforcement, and Assessing Next Steps," Testimony before the Senate Committee on Banking, Housing and Urban Affairs, June 4, 2013. (http://www. treasury.gov/press-center/press-releases/Pages/jl1969.aspx) 76. Michael Birnbaum and Joby Warrick, "A Mysterious Iranian-Run Factory in Germany," The Washington Post, April 15, 2013. (https://www.washingtonpost.com/world/europe/amysterious-iranian-run-factory-in-germany/2013/04/15/ 92259d7a-a29f-11e2-82bc-511538ae90a4_story.html); Mark Dubowitz and Emanuele Ottolenghi, "Iran's Car Industry - A Big Sanctions Buster," Forbes, May 13, 2013. (http://www.defenddemocracy.org/media-hit/ irans-car-industry-a-big-sanctions-buster/) 77. "Missile Technology Control Regime (MTCR) Annex Handbook-2010," The Missile Technology Control Regime, August 25, 2010. (http://www.mtcr.info/english/MTCR_ Annex_Handbook_ENG.pdf)

78. James Harrington, "Dual-Use Technologies and Export Controls," U.S. Department of State's Jefferson Science Lecture Series, March 31, 2009. (<u>http://www.state.gov/e/stas/</u> series/154211.htm)

79. "Electron Beam Welding Technology," *EBE Electron Beam Engineering Inc. Company*, accessed September 13, 2015.
(http://www.ebeinc.com/Electron-Beam-Technology.html)
80. "Entec Company Brochure," *Entec Composite Machines*

Inc. Company, accessed September 13, 2015. **81.** U.S. Department of the Treasury, Press Release, "Fact Sheet: Treasury Sanctions Major Iranian Commercial Entities," June 23, 2011. (http://www.treasury.gov/press-center/press-re-

leases/Pages/tg1217.aspx)

82. Ali Alfoneh, "How Intertwined Are Iran's Revolutionary Guards in Iran's Economy?" *American Enterprise Institute*, October 22, 2007. (https://www.aei.org/publication/how-intertwined-are-the-revolutionary-guards-in-irans-economy/)
83. U.S. Department of the Treasury, Press Release, "Fact Sheet: Treasury Sanctions Major Iranian Commercial Entities," June 23, 2011. (http://www.treasury.gov/press-center/press-releases/Pages/tg1217.aspx)

84. The Council of the European Union, "Council Regulation (EU) No 267/2012 of 23 March 2012 Concerning Restrictive Measures Against Iran and Repealing Regulation (EU) No 961/2010," *Official Journal of the European Union*, March 24, 2012. (<u>http://eur-lex.europa.eu/legal-content/EN/</u> TXT/?qid=1406807228342&uri=CELEX:32012R0267) 85. In its designation of Tidewater, Treasury highlighted the cases of a seized shipment headed to Nigeria in 2010, a cargo aboard a German-owned and IRISL-chartered vessel in October 2009, and arms-related materiel aboard the M/V Monghegorsk detained by the U.S. Navy and seized by Cypriot authorities in January 2009. U.S. Department of the Treasury, Press Release, "Fact Sheet: Treasury Sanctions Major Iranian Commercial Entities," June 23, 2011. (http://www.treasury.gov/press-center/press-releases/Pages/ tg1217.aspx); In November 2009, Israeli authorities intercepted the Francop carrying 500 tons of weapons originally loaded in Bandar Abbas. Jeffrey White, "Iran and Hizballah: Significance of the Francop Interception," The Washington Institute for Near East Policy, November 12, 2009. (http://www.washingtoninstitute.org/ policy-analysis/view/iran-and-hizballah-significance-of-the-francop-interception); UN experts investigated the case of the seizure of weapons aboard the Kloc C and determined that the shipment was loaded at the port of Bandar Abbas. Louis Charbonneau, "Exclusive: U.N. experts trace recent seized arms to Iran, violating embargo," Reuters, July 27, 2014. (http://www.reuters. com/article/2014/06/28/us-iran-sanctions-un-idUSKBN0F-300H20140628#sImgmaQcmJrZKAQi.97)

86. "Iran: Opportunities Following Sanctions Relief," *Holman Fenwick Willan*, January 2015, page 2. (http://www.hfw.com/ downloads/HFW-Iran-opportunities-following-sanctionsrelief-January-2016.pdf); U.S. Department of the Treasury, "Frequently Asked Questions Relating to the Lifting of Certain U.S. Sanctions Under the Joint Comprehensive Plan of Action (JCPOA) on Implementation Day," January 16, 2016, pages 19-20. (https://www.treasury.gov/resource-center/sanctions/ Programs/Documents/jcpoa_faqs.pdf)

87. U.S. Department of the Treasury, "JCPOA-related Designation Removals, JCPOA Designation Updates, Foreign Sanctions Evaders Removals, NS-ISA List Removals; 13599 List Changes," January 16, 2016. (https://www.treasury.gov/resource-center/sanctions/OFAC-Enforcement/Pages/updated_names.aspx)

88. U.S. Department of the Treasury, Press Release, "Treasury Announces New Sanctions against Iran," May 23, 2013. (http:// www.treasury.gov/press-center/press-releases/Pages/jl1955.aspx)
89. U.S. Department of the Treasury, "JCPOA-related Designation Removals, JCPOA Designation Updates, Foreign Sanctions Evaders Removals, NS-ISA List Removals; 13599 List Changes," January 16, 2016. (https://www.treasury.gov/ resource-center/sanctions/OFAC-Enforcement/Pages/updated_ names.aspx); U.S. Department of the Treasury, Press Release, "Fact Sheet: Treasury Sanctions Major Iranian Commercial Entities," June 23, 2011. (http://www.treasury.gov/press-center/ press-releases/Pages/tg1217.aspx)

90. Emanuele Ottolenghi and Saeed Ghasseminejad, "The Nuclear Deal's Impact on Iran's Revolutionary Guards," *Foundation for Defense of Democracies*, July 17, 2015. (http://

www.defenddemocracy.org/media-hit/emanuele-ottolenghi-the-nuclear-deals-impact-on-irans-revolutionary-guards/); U.S. Department of the Treasury, Press Release, "Treasury Designates Syrian Entity, Others Involved in Arms and Communications Procurement Networks and Identifies Blocked Iranian Aircraft," September 19, 2012. (https://www.treasury. gov/press-center/press-releases/Pages/tg1714.aspx)

91. Indictment, *United States v. Larijani*, Criminal No. 10-174 (D.D.C. November 15, 2010). (https://www.justice.gov/opa/ file/837996/download)

92. U.S. Department of the Treasury, Press Release, "Treasury Targets Iranian Arms Shipments," March 27, 2012. (<u>http://www.treasury.gov/press-center/press-releases/Pages/tg1506.aspx</u>)

93. U.S. Department of the Treasury, Press Release, "Treasury Designates Syrian Entity, Others Involved in Arms and Communications Procurement Networks and Identifies Blocked Iranian Aircraft," September 19, 2012. (<u>http://www.treasury.gov/press-center/press-releases/Pages/tg1714.aspx</u>)

94. Joint Comprehensive Plan of Action, Attachment 2 – Part II, Vienna, July 14, 2015. (<u>http://eeas.europa.eu/statements-eeas/docs/iran_agreement/</u>annex_2_sanctions_related_commitments_en.pdf)

95. U.S. Department of the Treasury, Press Release, "Treasury Designates Iranian Commercial Airline Linked to Iran's Support for Terrorism," October 12, 2011. (http://www.treasury.gov/press-center/press-releases/Pages/tg1322.aspx)

96. Emanuele Ottolenghi and Benjamin Weinthal, "The Wings of War," *Politico*, September 16, 2015. (<u>http://www.politico.eu/article/iran-mahan-air-sanctions-nuclear-deal-aviation-air-safety/</u>); Jennifer Griffin, "Exclusive: Russia flying Iranian weapons shipments into Syria, sources say," *Fox News*, October 29, 2015. (<u>http://www.foxnews.com/world/2015/10/29/exclusive-russia-flying-iranian-weapons-shipments-into-syria-sources-say/)</u>

97. @eottolenghi, "Mahan Air EP-MMF is returning to Tehran from Damascus while broadcasting the Baghdad-Tehran flight number," *Twitter*, October 9, 2015. (https:// twitter.com/eottolenghi/status/652533298321858560)
98. FDD's flight tracking information for suspected IRGC supply flights to Syria is available on request.
99. The new routes are: Tehran-Moscow, Tehran-St. Petersburg, Tehran-Sochi, Tehran-Athens and Tehran-Milan: "Mahan

Air announces six new international routes," *CAPA Center* for Aviation, May 20, 2015. (<u>http://centreforaviation.com/</u> <u>members/direct-news/mahan-air-opens-6-new-international-</u> <u>routes-from-may-142015-225574</u>) 100. For more information about Mahan's procurement of nine Airbus aircraft in May 2015, see Emanuele Ottolenghi, Annie Fixler, and Yaya Fanusie, "Flying Above the Radar: Sanctions Evasion in the Iranian Aviation Sector," *Foundation for Defense of Democracies*, July 18, 2016. (http:// www.defenddemocracy.org/content/uploads/documents/ Ottolenghi_Fixler_Fanusie_Aviation_Sanctions_Evasion.pdf); U.S. Department of the Treasury, Press Release, "Treasury Department Targets Those Involved in Iranian Scheme to Purchase Airplanes," May 21, 2015. (http://www.treasury.gov/ press-center/press-releases/Pages/jl10061.aspx). According to data available on the commercial website www.flightradar24. com, Mahan's sanctioned aircraft tail registration EP-MMH flew into Athens on September, 6 2015; EP-MMI flew into Munich on September 2, 2015.

101. Joint Comprehensive Plan of Action, Annex II – Sanctions related commitments, July 14, 2015, section 5.1.1. (http://eeas.europa.eu/statements-eeas/docs/iran_agreement/ annex_2_sanctions_related_commitments_en.pdf)

102. Ivana Kottasova, John Defterios and Matt Egan, "What's holding up Iran's big airplane deals," *CNN*, July 29, 2016. (<u>http://money.cnn.com/2016/07/29/news/companies/</u> iran-boeing-airbus-us-politics-funding/)

103. Parisa Hafezi and Louis Charbonneau, "Iranian Nuclear Deal Set to Make Hardline Revolutionary Guards Richer," *Reuters*, July 6, 2015. (http://www.reuters.com/ article/2015/07/06/us-iran-nuclear-economy-insight-idUSKCN-<u>0PG1XV20150706</u>); Emanuele Ottolenghi and Saeed Ghasseminejad, "The Nuclear Deal's Impact on Iran's Revolutionary Guards," *Foundation for Defense of Democracies*, July 17, 2015. (http://www.defenddemocracy.org/media-hit/ emanuele-ottolenghi-the-nuclear-deals-impact-on-irans-revolutionary-guards/)

104. Massimo Calabresi, "New Iranian Sanctions Target Revolutionary Guards," *Time Magazine*, June 10, 2010. (http:// content.time.com/time/magazine/article/0,9171,1995869,00.html)
105. Benoît Faucon and Asa Fitch, "Iran's Guards Cloud Western Firms' Entry After Nuclear Deal," *The Wall Street Journal*, July 21, 2015. (http://www.wsj.com/articles/ irans-guards-cloud-western-firms-entry-after-nucleardeal-1437510830)

106. Benoît Faucon and Asa Fitch, "Iran's Guards Cloud Western Firms' Entry After Nuclear Deal," *The Wall Street Journal*, July 21, 2015. (http://www.wsj.com/articles/ irans-guards-cloud-western-firms-entry-after-nucleardeal-1437510830)

107. Nargas Rasooli, "51 قرارداد بين وزارت نفت و مجموعه خاتم بسته شد (51 Contracts Signed Between the Ministry of Petroleum and Khatam al-Anbiya)," *Magiran* (Iran), May 23, 2012. (<u>http://www.magiran.com/npview.asp?ID=2507886</u>)

108. "Bakhtiari Project – Project Introduction," Iran Power & Water Resources Development Company, accessed September 13, 2015. (http://en.iwpco.ir/Bakhtiari/default.aspx) 109. Julian Borger and Robert Tait, "The Financial Power of the Revolutionary Guards," The Guardian (UK), February 15, 2010. (www.guardian.co.uk/world/2010/feb/15/ financial-power-revolutionary-guard) 110. "Shrine to Shrine Highway Project Starts," Press TV (Iran), October 10, 2010. (http://edition.presstv.ir/detail/145999.html) 111. Ladane Nasseri, "Tehran to End Initial \$7 Billion Metro Expansion by March," Bloomberg, October 22, 2014. (http://www.bloomberg.com/news/articles/2014-10-22/ tehran-to-end-initial-7-billion-metro-expansion-by-march) Moshampa Dam) پروژه سد مخزنی و بند تنظیمی مشمیا" . 112. Construction Project)," Sepasad Company, accessed September 13, 2015. (http://www.sepasad.ir/fa/index.php/ moshampa-dam-project) 113. Iran's Bank of Industry and Mine, Press Release, "President Rouhani Officially Starts Tehran-Isfahan High-Speed Rail Project," March 3, 2015. (http://en.bim.ir/detail/p10088872.bim) 114. U.S. Department of the Treasury, Press Release, "Treasury Designates Iranian State-Owned Bank for Facilitating Iran's Proliferation Activities," May 17, 2011. (http://www.treasury. gov/press-center/press-releases/Pages/tg1178.aspx); The Council of the European Union, "Council Implementing Regulation (EU) No 945/2012 of 15 October 2012 implementing Regulation (EU) No 267/2012 concerning restrictive measures against Iran," Official Journal of the European Union, October 16, 2012, entry 33. (http://eur-lex.europa.eu/legal-content/EN/ TXT/?qid=1457905007675&uri=CELEX:32012R0945) 115. U.S. Department of the Treasury, "JCPOA-related Designation Removals, JCPOA Designation Updates, Foreign Sanctions Evaders Removals, NS-ISA List Removals; 13599 List Changes," January 16, 2016. (https://www.treasury. gov/resource-center/sanctions/OFAC-Enforcement/Pages/ updated_names.aspx); Joint Comprehensive Plan of Action, Attachment 1 – Part I and Attachment 3, Vienna, July 14, 2015. (http://eeas.europa.eu/statements-eeas/docs/iran_agreement/ annex_2_sanctions_related_commitments_en.pdf) 116. Frederic Wehrey, Jerrold D. Green, Brian Nichiporuk, Alireza Nader, Lydia Hansell, Rasool Nafisi, and S. R. Bohandy, "The Rise of the Pasdaran: Assessing the Domestic Roles of Iran's Islamic Revolutionary Guards Corps," The RAND Corporation, 2009, page 62. (http://www.rand.org/content/dam/rand/pubs/ monographs/2008/RAND_MG821.pdf) 117. "IRGC's 2nd Underground 'Missile City' Unveiled," Tasnim News Agency (Iran), January 5, 2016. (http:// www.tasnimnews.com/en/news/2016/01/05/963050/ irgc-s-2nd-underground-missile-city-unveiled)

118. "Tehran Metro Line 7 Project The deepest subway in country," *Sepasad Company Website*, accessed
February 10, 2016. (http://www.sepasad.ir/en/index.php/tehran-metro-line-7-project-the-deepest-subway-in-country)
119. U.S. Department of State, Office of the Spokesman, "Fact Sheet: Designation of Iranian Entities and Individuals for Proliferation Activities and Support for Terrorism," October 25, 2007. (http://2001-2009.state.gov/r/pa/prs/ps/2007/oct/94193.htm)

120. U.S. Department of the Treasury, Press Release, "Treasury Announces Additional Sanctions Against Iranian Engineering and Shipping Firms," March 28, 2012. (http://www.treasury.gov/press-center/press-releases/Pages/tg1509.aspx)

121. Michael R. Gordon, "Sanctions Debate Emerges From Shadow of Iran Nuclear Accord," *The New York Times*, September 11, 2015. (http://www.nytimes.com/2015/09/12/us/politics/iran-nuclear-accord-sanctions.html?_r=0)
122. U.S. Department of the Treasury, Press Release,

"Fact Sheet: Treasury Designates Iranian Entities Tied to the IRGC and IRISL," December 21, 2010. (http://www. treasury.gov/press-center/press-releases/Pages/tg1010.aspx); U.S. Department of the Treasury, Press Release, "Treasury

U.S. Department of the Treasury, Press Release, "Treasury Designates Iran-Controlled Bank for Proliferation Future Bank Controlled by Iran's Bank Melli," March 12, 2008. (<u>https://</u> www.treasury.gov/press-center/press-releases/Pages/hp869. aspx)

123. U.S. Department of the Treasury, Press Release, "Fact Sheet: Treasury Designates Iranian Entities Tied to the IRGC and IRISL," December 21, 2010. (http://www.treasury.gov/ press-center/press-releases/Pages/tg1010.aspx); The Council of the European Union, "Council Implementing Regulation (EU) No 503/2011 Of 23 May 2011 Implementing Regulation (EU) No 961/2010 On Restrictive Measures Against Iran," *Official Journal of the European Union*, May 24, 2011. (http://eur-lex.europa.eu/LexUriServ/LexUriServ. do?uri=OJ:L:2011:136:0026:0044:EN:PDF)

124. U.S. Department of the Treasury, Press Release, "Treasury Designates Iran-Controlled Bank for Proliferation Future Bank Controlled by Iran's Bank Melli," March 12, 2008. (https://www.treasury.gov/press-center/press-releases/Pages/hp869. aspx)

125. U.S. Department of the Treasury, "JCPOA-related Designation Removals, JCPOA Designation Updates, Foreign Sanctions Evaders Removals, NS-ISA List Removals; 13599 List Changes," January 16, 2016. (https://www.treasury. gov/resource-center/sanctions/OFAC-Enforcement/Pages/ updated_names.aspx); The Council of the European Union, "Council Implementing Regulation (EU) 2015/18/62

of 18 October 2015 implementing Regulation (EU) No 267/2012 concerning restrictive measures against Iran," *Official Journal of the European Union*, October 18, 2015. (http://eur-lex.europa.eu/legal-content/ EN/TXT/?uri=uriserv:OJ.L_.2015.274.01.0161.01. ENG&toc=OJ:L:2015:274:TOC)

126. Annie Fixler, "Iran Sanctions Relief A Nightmare for Financial Compliance," *Foundation for Defense of Democracies*, October 21, 2015. (http://www.defenddemocracy.org/ media-hit/annie-fixler-iran-sanctions-relief-a-nightmarefor-financial-compliance/); Joint Comprehensive Plan of Action, Attachment 2 – Part I, Vienna, July 14, 2015. (http://eeas.europa.eu/statements-eeas/docs/iran_agreement/

annex_2_sanctions_related_commitments_en.pdf)

127. U.S. Department of the Treasury, Press Release, "Fact Sheet: Designation of Iranian Entities and Individuals for Proliferation Activities and Support for Terrorism," October 25, 2007. (<u>http://www.treasury.gov/press-center/press-releases/</u> Pages/hp644.aspx)

128. U.S. Department of the Treasury, Press Release, "Fact Sheet: Treasury Designates Iranian Entities Tied to the IRGC and IRISL," December 21, 2010. (<u>https://www.treasury.gov/</u>press-center/press-releases/Pages/tg1010.aspx)

129. AMIC is a subsidiary of Iran Zinc Mines Development Company, which is controlled by MEIIC. "سرمایهگذاری اندیشه (Andisheh Mehvaran Investment)," *Iran Zinc Mines Development Company*, accessed September 2, 2015. (<u>http://</u> izmdc.com/?page_id=121)

130. TAII is a subsidiary of MEIIC: "شرکت تدبیر گران آنیه" (Tadbirgaran Atieh Company)," *Mehr Eghtesad Bank*, accessed September 2, 2015. (<u>http://mebank.ir/index.aspx?siteid=1&pageid=207</u>)

131. "الوسازي الكسير» (Exir Pharmaceutical)," Tehran Stock Exchange, accessed September 13, 2015. (http://new.tse. ir/Instrument.html?IRO1EXIR0001); "منايعكاغنسازيكاو» (Kaveh Paper Industries)," Tehran Stock Exchange, accessed September 13, 2015. (http://new.tse.ir/Instrument.html?IRO1KSKA0001); "الايش نفت اصفهان" Tehran Stock Exchange, accessed September 13, 2015. (http:// new.tse.ir/Instrument.html?IRO1PNES0001); "ليزينگ رايان" (Rayan Saipa Leasing)," Tehran Stock Exchange, accessed September 13, 2015. (http:// new.tse.ir/Instrument.html?IRO1PNES0001); سايپا ايزينگ رايان" (Rayan Saipa Leasing)," Tehran Stock Exchange, accessed September 13, 2015. (http://new.tse.ir/Instrument.html?IRO1RSAP0001); ساينان بهبهان بهبهان (Behbahan Cement)," Tehran Stock Exchange, accessed September 13, 2015. (http://new.tse. ir/Instrument.html?IRO1SBHN0001)

132. Iran has already announced a \$1.7 billion bond issue for the current calendar year to help finance energy sector projects: "Iran to sell bonds for key energy plans," *Press TV* (Iran), August 25, 2015. (http://www.presstv.com/Detail/2015/08/25/426235/ Iran-to-sell-bonds-for-key-energy-plans) 133. Michael Slackman, "Elite Guard in Iran Tightens Grip with Media Move," The New York Times, October 8, 2009. (http://www.nytimes.com/2009/10/09/world/middleeast/09iran.html?_r=0); Robert Tait, "Revolutionary Guards buy 51% stake in Iran's telecommunications company," The Guardian (UK), October 7, 2009. (http://www.theguardian. com/world/2009/oct/07/revolutionary-guards-iran) ویژگی کنسرسیوم توسعه اعتماد مبین بعنوان خریدار سهام" .134 The Characteristic of Etemad Mobin) بلوكي مخابرات تشريح شد Consortium as the Buyer of Communications Stocks)," ICTNA (Iran), September 12, 2009. (http://www.ictna.ir/id/022937/) 135. Steve Stecklow, "Special Report: Chinese firm helps Iran spy on citizens," Reuters. March 22, 2012. (http:// uk.reuters.com/article/2012/03/22/uk-iran-telecoms-idUK-BRE82L0B720120322); The Iran Primer, Ed. Robin Wright, (Washington, DC: United States Institute of Peace, 2010), page 55.

136. Ian Black, "How Iran is filtering out dissent," The Guardian (UK), June 30, 2009. (http://www.guardian.co.uk/ technology/2009/jun/30/internet-censorship-iran) 137. Steve Stecklow, "Special Report: Chinese Firm helps Iran spy on its Citizens," Reuters, March 22, 2012. (http://www.reuters.com/ article/2012/03/22/us-iran-telecoms-idUSBRE82L0B820120322) 138. Khourosh Avaei, "What to expect in Iran's Telecom Sector," Al Monitor, August 18, 2013. (http://www.al-monitor. com/pulse/originals/2013/08/expect-iran-telecom-sector.html#) 139. Executive Order 13606, "Blocking the Property and Suspending Entry Into the United States of Certain Persons With Respect to Grave Human Rights Abuses by the Governments of Iran and Syria via Information Technology," April 23, 2012. (http://www.treasury.gov/resource-center/ sanctions/Programs/Documents/2012iran_syria_eo.pdf) 140. U.S. Department of State, Office of the Spokesperson, "United States Takes Action to Facilitate Communications

by the Iranian People and Targets Iranian Government Censorship," May 30, 2013. (<u>http://www.state.gov/r/pa/prs/</u>ps/2013/05/210102.htm)

141. U.S. Department of the Treasury, Press Center, Press Release, "Treasury Targets Iran's Islamic Revolutionary Guards Corps," February 10, 2010. (<u>http://www.treasury.gov/press-cen-</u> ter/press-releases/Pages/tg539.aspx)

142. Frederic Wehrey, Jerrold D. Green, Brian Nichiporuk, Alireza Nader, Lydia Hansell, Rasool Nafisi, and S. R. Bohandy, "The Rise of the Pasdaran: Assessing the Domestic Roles of Iran's Islamic Revolutionary Guards Corps," *The RAND Corporation*, 2009, pages 63-64. (http://www.rand.org/content/ dam/rand/pubs/monographs/2008/RAND_MG821.pdf)
143. Matthew M. Frick, "Iran's Islamic Revolutionary Guard Corps: An Open Source Analysis," *Joint Force Quarterly*, 2008, page 125. (http://www.dtic.mil/dtic/tr/fulltext/u2/a516529.pdf) 144. Data demonstrating leadership positions in these two organizations and their subsidiaries held by IRGC officials available upon request.

145. "Ahmad Vahid Dastjerdi," *Iran Watch*, October 31, 2008. (<u>http://www.iranwatch.org/iranian-entities/</u>ahmad-vahid-dastjerdi)

146. "Brigadier General Morteza Rezaie," *Iran Watch*, October 31, 2008. (<u>http://www.iranwatch.org/iranian-entities/</u>brigadier-general-morteza-rezaie)

147. The cases of the IRGC's reverse engineering of an Italian speedboat and an Austrian sniper rifle are well-documented. Emanuele Ottolenghi, Iran: The Looming Crisis: Can the West Live with Iran's Nuclear Threat? (London: Profile Books, 2010), pages 191-193, 246-247; Emanuele Ottolenghi, "Iran's Deceptive Commercial Practices," BESA Perspectives, April 15, 2008. (http://www.biu.ac.il/SOC/besa/perspectives41.pdf). When Iran was unable to export flow-forming machines (a dual-use good applicable to both the auto industry and nuclear centrifuges) from a German company, Tehran eventually purchased the factory to learn how to make the equipment. Though neither its machinery nor its carbon fiber could be transferred to Iran, its owners ensured periodic visits by delegations of Iranian engineers, who familiarized themselves with the technology on site. Eventually, a twin factory was built in Iran. Emanuele Ottolenghi, "A Nuclear Deal with Iran and the Perils of Sanctions Relief," The Institute for National Security Studies, September 2014. (http://www.inss.org.il/ index.aspx?id=4538&articleid=7700); Iran has also boasted that it reverse-engineered an American drone. Brad Lendon, "Iran Says It Built Copy of Captured U.S. Drone," CNN, May 12, 2014. (http://www.cnn.com/2014/05/12/world/meast/ iran-u-s-drone-copy/)

148. Babak Dehghanpisheh, "Why Sanctions Won't Hurt the Revolutionary Guards," *Newsweek*, July 10, 2010. (<u>http://www.newsweek.com/</u> why-sanctions-wont-hurt-revolutionary-guards-74673)

149. Saeed Ghasseminejad, "How Iran's mafia-like Revolutionary Guard rules the country's black market," *Business Insider*, December 10, 2015. (<u>http://www.businessinsider.com/</u> how-irans-mafia-like-revolutionary-guard-rules-the-countrysblack-market-2015-12)

150. Hugh Tomlinson, "Revolutionary Guard 'running Iran drug trade," *The Australian*, November 18, 2011. (http://www.theaustralian.com.au/news/ world/revolutionary-guard-running-iran-drug-trade/ story-e6frg6so-1226198241719) 151. U.S. Department of the Treasury, Press Release, "Treasury Designates Iranian Qods Force General Overseeing Afghan Heroin Trafficking through Iran," March 3, 2012. (http:// www.treasury.gov/press-center/press-releases/Pages/tg1444. aspx); Ali Alfoneh and Will Fulton, "Quds Force commander and candidate: Gholamreza Baghbani," American Enterprise Institute, April 13, 2012. (https://www.aei.org/publication/ quds-force-commander-and-candidate-gholamreza-baghbani/) 152. Ali Alfoneh, "How Intertwined Are Iran's Revolutionary Guards in Iran's Economy?" American Enterprise Institute, October 22, 2007. (https://www.aei.org/publication/how-intertwined-are-the-revolutionary-guards-in-irans-economy/); Babak Dehghanpisheh, "Why Sanctions Won't Hurt the Revolutionary Guards," Newsweek, July 10, 2010. (http://www.newsweek.com/ why-sanctions-wont-hurt-revolutionary-guards-74673) ٨٠ اسكله غيرمجاز زير نظر برادران قاچاقچى «" .153 (80 Unauthorized Ports under the Control of "Smuggler Brothers")," Deutsche Welle (Germany), May 7, 2011. (http://www. dw.com/fa-ir/۰۱/۰۰ اسکله-غیرمجاز-زیر-نظر-برادران-قاچاقچی/۸/a-6564896 The) حجم قاچاق در ایر ان نزدیک به یک سوم مبادلات تجاری است" . 154. Value of Smuggling in Iran is One Third of Business Transactions)," BBC News (UK), January 22, 2015. (http://www.bbc.com/persian/ business/2015/01/150122_l45_iran_smuggle_import) 155. Babak Dehghanpisheh, "Why Sanctions Won't Hurt the Revolutionary Guards," Newsweek, July 10, 2010. (http://www.newsweek.com/ why-sanctions-wont-hurt-revolutionary-guards-74673) 156. Hillary Rodham Clinton and Timothy Geithner, "Joint Statement on Iran Sanctions," Office of the Spokesperson of the U.S. Department of State, June 23, 2011. (http://www.state.gov/r/ pa/prs/ps/2011/06/166814.htm)

157. U.S. Department of the Treasury, Press Release, "Fact Sheet: Designation of Iranian Entities and Individuals for Proliferation Activities and Support for Terrorism," October 25, 2007. (http://www.treasury.gov/press-center/press-releases/Pages/ hp644.aspx)

158. U.S. Department of the Treasury, Press Release, "Fact Sheet: Treasury Sanctions Major Iranian Commercial Entities," June 23, 2011. (http://www.treasury.gov/press-center/press-releases/Pages/tg1217.aspx)

159. Executive Order 13606, "Blocking the Property and Suspending Entry into the United States of Certain Persons With Respect to Grave Human Rights Abuses by the Governments of Iran and Syria via Information Technology," April 22, 2012. (http://www.treasury.gov/resource-center/sanctions/Programs/ Documents/13606.pdf)

160. Executive Order 13572, "Blocking Property of Certain Persons with Respect to Human Rights Abuses in Syria," April 29, 2011. (http://www.treasury.gov/resource-center/sanctions/ Programs/Documents/13572.pdf); U.S. Department of the Treasury, Press Release, "Administration Takes Additional Steps to Hold the Government of Syria Accountable for Violent Repression Against the Syrian People," May 18, 2011. (http:// www.treasury.gov/press-center/press-releases/Pages/tg1181.aspx) 161. The Council of the European Union, "Council Decision 2013/255/CFSP of 31 May 2013 concerning restrictive measures against Syria," Official Journal of the European Union, June 1, 2013. (http://eur-lex.europa.eu/legal-content/EN/ TXT/?uri=CELEX:32013D0255)

162. United Nations Human Rights Council, "Report of the Special Rapporteur on the situation of human rights in the Islamic Republic of Iran," March 10, 2016. (http://shaheedoniran.org/ wp-content/uploads/2016/03/SR-Report-HRC2016FF.pdf)

163. "Largest Wave of Arrests by Iran's Revolutionary Guards Since 2009," International Campaign for Human Rights in Iran, November 19, 2015. (https://www.iranhumanrights. org/2015/11/irgc-intelligence-arrests/)

164. Michael Elleman, "Iran's Ballistic Missile Program," U.S. Institute of Peace, August 2015. (http://iranprimer.usip.org/ resource/irans-ballistic-missile-program)

ليبي و موشك اسكاد؛ أغاز راه تبديل ايران به قدرت موشكي" .165 (Libya and Scud Missiles: The Beginning of Iran's Path toward Becoming a Missile Power)," ISNA (Iran), November 26, 2015. (http://www.isna.ir/fa/news/94082515283/ (ليبى-و-موشك-اسكاد-آغاز-راه-تبديل-ايران-به

166. "Iran's Ballistic Missile Capabilities: A net assessment," The International Institute for Strategic Studies, May 7, 2010. (http://www.iiss.org/en/publications/strategic%20dossiers/issues/ iran--39-s-ballistic-missile-capabilities--a-net-assessment-885a) 167. "IRGC-Air Force Al-Ghadir Missile Command," Iran Watch, March 2, 2011. (http://www.iranwatch.org/ iranian-entities/irgc-air-force-al-ghadir-missile-command);

"Shahid Hemat Industrial Group (SHIG)," Iran Watch, August 2, 2014. (http://www.iranwatch.org/iranian-entities/

shahid-hemat-industrial-group-shig)

168. James Clapper, "Statement for the Record: Worldwide Threat Assessment of the US Intelligence Community," Testimony before the Senate Armed Services Committee, February 9, 2016, page 8. (http://www.armed-services.senate.gov/imo/media/ doc/Clapper 02-09-16.pdf)

169. Behnam Ben Taleblu, "Don't Forget Iran's Ballistic Missiles," War on The Rocks, August 25, 2014. (http://warontherocks.com/2014/08/dont-forget-irans-ballistic-missiles/)

170. James R. Clapper, "Statement for the Record: Worldwide Threat Assessment of the US Intelligence Community Senate Armed Services Committee," *Testimony before the Senate Armed Services Committee*, February 26, 2015, page 6. (http://www.dni. gov/files/documents/Unclassified_2015_ATA_SFR_-_SASC_ FINAL.pdf)

171. Robert Joseph, "JCPOA: Non-Proliferation, Inspections, and Nuclear Constraints," *Testimony before the Senate Foreign Relations Committee*, August 4, 2015. (http://www.foreign.senate. gov/imo/media/doc/080415_Joseph_Testimony.pdf); David A. Cooper, "Iran's Enduring Ballistic Missile Threat," *Statement before the House Committee on Foreign Affairs Subcommittee on Middle East and North Africa*, June 10, 2015. (http://docs.house. gov/meetings/FA/FA13/20150610/103582/HHRG-114-FA13-Wstate-CooperD-20150610.pdf)

172. "U.S.: Iran Missile Test 'Clear Violation' of U.N. Sanctions," CBS News, October 16, 2015. (http://www.cbsnews. com/news/iran-ballistic-missile-test-un-sanctions-us-ambassador-samantha-power/); Bradley Klapper, "US official says Iran tested ballistic missile last month, at least 2nd time since nuke deal," Associated Press, December 8, 2015. (http://www.usnews. com/news/politics/articles/2015/12/08/us-official-iran-tested-ballistic-missile-last-month); Thomas Erdbrink, "Iranian Unit Tests Missiles, Accusing U.S. of Threats," The New York Times, March 8, 2016. (http://www.nytimes.com/2016/03/09/world/middleeast/irans-revolutionary-guards-test-nationwide-ballistic-missiles. html); Nasser Karimi, "Iran test-fires ballistic missile, latest after nuclear deal," Associated Press, May 9, 2016. (http://www. bigstory.ap.org/article/5cb0901c025a4cfb93c4fb08558d68c0/ iran-test-fires-ballistic-missile-latest-after-nuclear-deal) 173. Stephen Mull, "The Status of JCPOA Implementation and Related Issues," Hearing before the Senate Foreign Relations Committee, December 17, 2015. (https://www.bgov.com/core/news/#!/articles/ NZJ3O23PWT1C; http://www.foreign.senate.gov/hearings/ the-status-of-jcpoa-implementation-and-related-issues-121715) 174. James Clapper, "Worldwide Threats," Hearing before the Senate Armed Services Committee, February 9, 2016. (https://www. bgov.com/core/news/#!/articles/O2AIHO3PWT1D; http://www. armed-services.senate.gov/hearings/16-02-09-worldwide-threats) 175. Joint Comprehensive Plan of Action, Attachment 2 - Part II, Vienna, July 14, 2015. (http://eeas.europa.eu/statements-eeas/ docs/iran_agreement/annex_2_sanctions_related_commitments_ en.pdf); Behnam Ben Taleblu, "EU Set to Delist Entities Linked to Iran's Ballistic Missile Test," Foundation for Defense of Democracies, October 29, 2015. (http://www.defenddemocracy.org/media-hit/ behnam-ben-taleblu-eu-set-to-delist-entities-linked-to-irans-ballistic-missile-test/); Babak Dehghanpisheh and Yeganeh Torbati, "Firms linked to Revolutionary Guards to win sanctions relief under Iran deal," Reuters, August 9, 2015. (http://www.reuters.com/ article/us-iran-nuclear-sanctions-idUSKCN0QE08320150809)

176. U.S. Department of State, Bureau of Counterterrorism, "State Sponsors of Terrorism," accessed November 7, 2014. (http://www.state.gov/j/ct/list/c14151.htm); U.S. Department of State, "Country Reports on Terrorism 2015," June 2016. (http:// www.state.gov/j/ct/rls/crt/2015/index.htm)

177. U.S. Department of Defense, "Unclassified Report on Military Power of Iran," April 2010, pages 7-8. (<u>http://www.</u> foxnews.com/projects/pdf/IranReportUnclassified.pdf)

178. James Clapper, "Statement for the Record: Worldwide Threat Assessment of the US Intelligence Community," *Testimony before the Senate Armed Services Committee*, February 9, 2016, pages 6, 24. (http://www.armed-services.senate.gov/imo/ media/doc/Clapper_02-09-16.pdf)

179. Tony Badran, "Exporting the Islamic Revolution," *Now Lebanon*, June 3, 2015. (<u>https://now.mmedia.me/lb/en/</u> commentary/564933-exporting-the-islamic-revolution)

180. U.S. Department of the Treasury, Press Release, "Fact Sheet: U.S. Treasury Department Targets Iran's Support for Terrorism Treasury Announces New Sanctions against Iran's Islamic Revolutionary Guard Corps-Qods Force Leadership," August 3, 2010. (http://www.treasury.gov/press-center/press-releases/Pages/tg810.aspx)

181. Scott Modell and David Asher, "Pushback Countering the Iran Action Network," *Center for New American Security*, September 2013. (http://www.cnas.org/files/documents/publications/CNAS_Pushback_ModellAsher_0.pdf)

182. U.S. Department of the Treasury, Press Release, "Fact Sheet: Designation of Iranian Entities and Individuals for Proliferation Activities and Support for Terrorism," October 25, 2007. (<u>http://www.treasury.gov/press-center/press-releases/Pages/</u> hp644.aspx)

183. Andrew de Grandpre and Andrew Tilghman, "Iran linked to deaths of 500 U.S. troops in Iraq, Afghanistan," *Military Times*, July 15, 2015. (http://www.militarytimes.com/story/military/capitol-hill/2015/07/14/iran-linked-to-deaths-of-500-us-troops-in-iraq-afghanistan/30131097/)

184. U.S. Department of Justice, Office of Public Affairs, "Two Men Charged in Alleged Plot to Assassinate Saudi Arabian Ambassador to the United States," October 11, 2011. (<u>http://</u> www.justice.gov/opa/pr/two-men-charged-alleged-plot-assassinate-saudi-arabian-ambassador-united-states)

185. Richard Esposito and Brian Ross, "Iran 'Directed' Washington, D.C., Terror Plot, U.S. Says," *ABC News*, October 11, 2011. (<u>http://abcnews.go.com/Blotter/</u>us-iran-tied-terror-plot-washington-dc-disrupted/story?id=14711933)

186. Charlie Savage and Scott Shane, "Iranians Accused of a Plot to Kill Saudis' U.S. Envoy," *The New York Times*, October 11, 2011. (<u>http://www.nytimes.com/2011/10/12/us/us-accuses-iranians-of-plotting-to-kill-saudi-envoy.html?_r=0</u>)

187. U.S. Department of the Treasury, Press Release, "Fact Sheet: Designation of Iranian Entities and Individuals for Proliferation Activities and Support for Terrorism," October 25, 2007. (<u>http://www.treasury.gov/press-center/press-releases/Pages/</u> hp644.aspx)

188. Matthew Levitt, "Iran's Support for Terrorism Worldwide," *Testimony submitted to the House Committee on Foreign Affairs*, March 4, 2014, page 1. (http://www.washingtoninstitute.org/uploads/Documents/testimony/LevittTestimony20140304.pdf); Hafizulla Emadi, "Exporting Iran's Revolution: The Radicalization of the Shiite Movement in Afghanistan," *Middle Eastern Studies*, January 1995. (Accessed via Jstor); Michael Connell, "Iran's Military Doctrine," *U.S. Institute of Peace*, accessed March 8, 2016. (http://iranprimer.usip.org/resource/irans-military-doctrine)

189. Kenneth Katzman, "Iran: U.S. Concerns and Policy Responses," Congressional Research Service, October 1, 2014, page 2. (http://fpc.state.gov/documents/organization/217472.pdf) 190. Adam Szubin, "Nomination Hearing," Senate Banking, Housing and Urban Affairs Committee, September 17, 2015. (http://www.cq.com/doc/ congressionaltranscripts-4758134?7&search=nisvDlD6) 191. Will Fulton, Joseph Holliday, and Sam Wyer, "Iranian Strategy in Syria," American Enterprise Institute and Institute for the Study of War, May 2013. (http://www.understandingwar. org/sites/default/files/IranianStrategyinSyria-1MAY.pdf); For more information on the support that Iran provides to the Assad regime, see Max Peck, "Doubling Down on Damascus: Iran's Military Surge to Save the Assad Regime," Foundation for Defense of Democracies, January 2016. (http://www.defenddemocracy.org/content/uploads/documents/Doubling_Down_

on_Damascus.pdf) **192.** Emanuele Ottolenghi and Benjamin Weinthal, "The Wings of War," *Politico*, September 16, 2015. (http://www. politico.eu/article/iran-mahan-air-sanctions-nuclear-dealaviation-air-safety/); Jennifer Griffin, "Exclusive: Russia flying Iranian weapons shipments into Syria, sources say," *Fox News*, October 29, 2015. (http://www.foxnews.com/ world/2015/10/29/exclusive-russia-flying-iranian-weapons-shipments-into-syria-sources-say/)

193. In May 2013, Treasury sanctioned Syrian Arab Airlines, Syria's national airline, for facilitating weapons' transfer on behalf of the IRGG's Quds Force and Hezbollah. According to Treasury, "The IRGC-QF has used Syrian Arab Airlines cargo flights to transport illicit cargo – including weapons and ammunition – to Syria. Hezbollah, Iran's terrorist proxy, helped facilitate these flights for the IRGC-QF. The weapons, suspected to include mortars, small arms, rockets, and light anti-aircraft guns, have been sent to Syria to support the Syrian regime's violent crackdown against its own people." U.S. Department of the Treasury, Press Release, "Treasury increases Sanctions against Syria," May 16, 2013. (<u>https://www.treasury.gov/press-center/press-releases/Pages/jl1947.aspx</u>) **194.** Max Peck, "Doubling Down on Damascus: Iran's Military Surge to Save the Assad Regime," *Foundation for Defense of Democracies*, January 2016. (<u>http://www.defenddemocracy.org/content/uploads/documents/Doubling_Down_ on_Damascus.pdf)</u>

195. Laila Bassam and Tom Perry, "How Iranian general plotted out Syrian assault in Moscow," *Reuters*, October 6, 2015. (<u>http://www.reuters.com/article/us-mideast-crisis-syria-soleimani-insigh-idUSKCN0S02BV20151006</u>)

196. Laila Bassam and Tom Perry, "How Iranian general plotted out Syrian assault in Moscow," *Reuters*, October 6, 2015. (<u>http://www.reuters.com/article/us-mideast-crisis-syria-soleimani-insigh-idUSKCN0S02BV20151006</u>)

197. Jennifer Griffin and Lucas Tomlinson, "Exclusive Quds Force commander Soleimani visited Moscow, met Russian leaders in defiance of sanctions," *Fox News*, August 6, 2015. (<u>http://www.foxnews.com/politics/2015/08/06/</u> <u>exclusive-quds-force-commander-soleimani-visited-mos-</u> <u>cow-met-russian-leaders-in.html</u>)

198. Laila Bassam and Tom Perry, "How Iranian general plotted out Syrian assault in Moscow," *Reuters*, October 6, 2015. (<u>http://www.reuters.com/article/us-mideast-crisis-syria-soleimani-insigh-idUSKCN0S02BV20151006</u>)

199. Max Peck, "Doubling Down on Damascus: Iran's Military Surge to Save the Assad Regime," Foundation for Defense of Democracies, January 2016. (http://www.defenddemocracy.org/content/uploads/documents/Doubling_Down_ on_Damascus.pdf); Ali Alfoneh, "Iran and the IRGC: Fueling Conflict in the Middle East," Testimony before the House Foreign Affairs Committee, December 2, 2015. (http://docs. house.gov/meetings/FA/FA00/20151202/104244/HHRG-114-FA00-Wstate-AlfonehA-20151202.pdf). For a detailed study of the IRGC's support for the Assad regime and Iran's provision of weapons, equipment, personnel, and military advisors, see Max Peck, "Doubling Down on Damascus: Iran's Military Surge to Save the Assad Regime," Foundation for Defense of Democracies, January 2016. (http://www.defenddemocracy.org/content/uploads/documents/Doubling_Down_ on_Damascus.pdf)

200. Sam Jones, "Cyber warfare: Iran opens a new front," *Financial Times* (UK), April 26, 2016. (http://www.ft.com/intl/cms/s/0/15e1acf0-0a47-11e6-b0f1-61f222853ff3. html#axzz46uL9K6M6)

201. James R. Clapper, "Statement for the Record: Worldwide Threat Assessment of the US Intelligence Community," *Senate Armed Services Committee*, February 9, 2016. (<u>http://www.</u> armed-services.senate.gov/imo/media/doc/Clapper_02-09-16.pdf) **202.** Frederick W. Kagan and Tommy Stiansen, "The Growing Cyber Threat from Iran," *American Enterprise Institute Critical Threats Project and Norse Corporation*, April 2015. (https://www. aei.org/wp-content/uploads/2015/04/Growing-Cyberthreat-From-Iran-final.pdf)

203. Eric K. Shafa, "Iran's Emergence as a Cyber Power," *Strategic Studies Institute*, August 20, 2014. (<u>http://www.strategicstudiesinstitute.army.mil/index.cfm/articles/</u>Irans-emergence-as-cyber-power/2014/08/20)

204. Ilan Berman, "Fallout Ploy," *Foreign Affairs*, January 11, 2016. (<u>https://www.foreignaffairs.com/articles/iran/2016-01-11/</u>fallout-ploy)

205. Nicole Perloth, "In Cyberattack on Saudi Firm, U.S. Sees Iran Firing Back," *The New York Times*, October 23, 2012. (http://www.nytimes.com/2012/10/24/business/global/cyberattack-on-saudi-oil-firm-disquiets-us.html?_r=0)

206. Jay Solomon, "U.S. Detects Flurry of Iranian Hacking," *The Wall Street Journal*, November 4, 2015. (http://www.wsj. com/articles/u-s-detects-flurry-of-iranian-hacking-1446684754)

207. Eric Auchard, "Iran cyberspy group hit in coordinated European raids," *Reuters*, November 9, 2015. (<u>https://uk.news.yahoo.com/iran-cyberspy-group-hit-coordinated-europe-an-raids-131426299--finance.html#OA5p4aw</u>)

208. Column Lynch, "Iran to United Nations; New Sanctions Could Kill Nuclear Deal," *Foreign Policy*, July 28, 2015. (<u>https://</u>foreignpolicy.com/2015/07/28/john-kerry-obama-administration-terrorism-human-rights-iran-to-united-nations-new-sanctions-could-kill-nuclear-deal/)

209. "Iran Press Review," *Foundation for Defense of Democracies*, October 21, 2015. (<u>http://fdd.cmail20.com/t/ViewEmail/r/941</u> <u>B907BD0F8D6F62540EF23F30FEDED/18EF3159F08F673E</u> DDA3541AF197FE1F)

210. For example, see John Kerry, "Remarks on Nuclear Agreement with Iran," *Remarks at the National Constitution Center, Philadelphia*, September 2, 2015. (http://www. state.gov/secretary/remarks/2015/09/246574.htm); Jacob Lew, "Testimony of Treasury Secretary Jacob J. Lew before the Senate Foreign Relations Committee on the Iran Nuclear Agreement," *Testimony before the Senate Foreign Relations Committee*, July 23, 2015. (https://www.treasury. gov/press-center/press-releases/Pages/jl0129.aspx); Adam Szubin, "Beyond the Vote: Implications for the Sanctions Regime on Iran," *Keynote Address before the Washington Institute for Near East Policy*, September 16, 2015. (http:// www.washingtoninstitute.org/uploads/Documents/other/ SzubinTranscript20150916-v2.pdf)

211. U.S. Department of State, "Foreign Terrorist Organizations," accessed March 15, 2016. (<u>http://www.state.gov/j/ct/rls/other/des/123085.htm</u>) **212.** U.S. Department of the Treasury, "What You Need To Know About U.S. Sanctions," March 9, 2016. (<u>https://www.treasury.gov/resource-center/sanctions/Programs/Documents/terror.pdf</u>)

213. Daniel Benjamin, "Iran's Islamic Revolutionary Guard Corps: Fueling Middle East Turmoil," *Hearing before the House Foreign Affairs Committee*, December 2, 2015. (<u>http://docs.</u> <u>house.gov/meetings/FA/FA00/20151202/104244/HHRG-114-</u> FA00-Wstate-BenjaminD-20151202.pdf; <u>https://www.youtube.</u> com/watch?v=zkL7oi0IJqM)

214. U.S. Department of the Treasury, "Fact Sheet: Designation of Iranian Entities and Individuals for Proliferation Activities and Support for Terrorism," October 25, 2007. (<u>http://www.treasury.gov/press-center/press-releases/Pages/hp644.aspx</u>)

215. Executive Order 13572, "Blocking Property of Certain Persons With Respect to Human Rights Abuses in Syria," April 29, 2011. (http://www.gpo.gov/fdsys/pkg/FR-2011-05-03/ pdf/2011-10910.pdf)

216. Ali Alfoneh, "The IRGC Transforms into an Expeditionary Force," *Foundation for Defense of Democracies*, October 29, 2015. (http://www.defenddemocracy.org/media-hit/ali-alfoneh-the-irgc-transforms-into-an-expeditionary-force/)

217. For example, the United States has not sanctioned Mohammad Pakpour, head of the IRGC Ground Forces; Amir Ali Hajizadeh, head of the IRGC Air Force; Ali Ashraf Nouri, deputy commander of the IRGC and chief of the IRGC Political Bureau; Hojatoleslam Ali Saidi, representative of the Supreme Leader to the IRGC; Behrouz Kamalian, head of Ashiyaneh cyber group; and Mohamed Sadeghi, Colonel and Deputy of IRGC technical and cyber intelligence, among others.

218. U.S. Department of the Treasury, Press Release, "Treasury Announces Key Regulations and Legislation to Counter Money Laundering and Corruption, Combat Tax Evasion," May 5, 2016. (https://www.treasury.gov/press-center/press-releases/Pages/jl0451.aspx)

219. Jacob Lew, "Statement for the International Monetary and Financial Committee (IMFC) Meeting," *International Monetary Fund*, April 15, 2016. (https://www.treasury.gov/press-center/press-releases/Pages/jl0428.aspx)

220. Financial Action Task Force, "International Standards on Combating Money Laundering and the Financing of Terrorism and Proliferation," February 2012, page 60. (<u>http://www.fatf-gafi.org/media/fatf/documents/recommendations/pdfs/</u>FATF_Recommendations.pdf)

221. For example, see Legal Information Institute, "U.S. Code § 8725 - Liability of Parent Companies for Violations of Sanctions by Foreign Subsidiaries," *Cornell University Law School*, accessed October 29, 2015. (https://www.law.cornell.edu/uscode/text/22/8725)

222. U.S. Department of the Treasury, "Fact Sheet: Treasury Sanctions Major Iranian Commercial Entities," June 23, 2011. (http://www.treasury.gov/press-center/press-releases/Pages/tg1217.aspx)

223. Robin Wright, "Stuart Levey's War," *The New York Times*, November 2, 2008. (http://www.nytimes.com/2008/11/02/ magazine/02IRAN-t.html?pagewanted=all&_r=0)

224. Juan Zarate, *Treasury's War: The Unleashing of a New Era of Financial Warfare*, (New York: PublicAffairs, 2013), pages 300-302.

225. U.S. Department of State and U.S. Department of the Treasury, "Guidance Relating to the Lifting of Certain U.S. Sanctions Pursuant to the Joint Comprehensive Plan of Action on Implementation Day," January 16, 2016, page 40. (https://www.treasury.gov/resource-center/sanctions/ Programs/Documents/implement_guide_jcpoa.pdf); U.S. Department of the Treasury, "Frequently Asked Questions Relating to the Lifting of Certain U.S. Sanctions Under the Joint Comprehensive Plan of Action (JCPOA) on Implementation

Day," June 8, 2016, page 17. (<u>https://www.treasury.gov/</u> resource-center/sanctions/Programs/Documents/jcpoa_faqs.pdf)

226. Max Peck, "Doubling Down on Damascus: Iran's Military Surge to Save the Assad Regime," *Foundation for Defense of Democracies*, January 2016, page 15. (http://www.defenddemocracy.org/content/uploads/documents/Doubling_Down_on_ Damascus.pdf)

227. Hezbollah International Financing Prevention Act of 2015, Pub. L. 114-102, 2205 STAT. 29, codified as amended at 114 U.S.C. (<u>http://www.gpo.gov/fdsys/pkg/BILLS-114hr2297eas/</u> pdf/BILLS-114hr2297eas.pdf)

228. Max Peck, "Doubling Down on Damascus: Iran's Military Surge to Save the Assad Regime," *Foundation for Defense of Democracies*, January 2016, page 15. (http://www.defenddemocracy.org/content/uploads/documents/Doubling_Down_on_ Damascus.pdf)

229. Ali Alfoneh, "Iran and the IRGC: Fueling Conflict in the Middle East," *Testimony before the House Foreign Affairs Committee*, December 2, 2015. (<u>http://docs.house.gov/meetings/FA/FA00/20151202/104244/HHRG-114-FA00-Wstate-AlfonehA-20151202.pdf</u>)

230. Julian Pecquet, "US seeks to block sanctioned Iranian airline's flights into Europe," *Al Monitor*, February 11, 2016. (http://www.al-monitor.com/pulse/originals/2016/02/us-trea-sury-block-iran-airline-mahan-sanctions.html#)

231. Emanuele Ottolenghi, "Why isn't the Obama Administration Going after Iran's Mahan Air?" *The Hill*, November 16, 2015. (<u>http://thehill.com/blogs/pundits-blog/</u> <u>international/260227-why-isnt-the-obama-administration-go-</u> <u>ing-after-irans-mahan</u>) **232.** National Defense Authorization Act for Fiscal Year 2013, Pub. L. 112-239, 126 Stat. 1632, codified as amended at 112 U.S.C. §1245. (<u>https://www.treasury.gov/resource-center/sanctions/Programs/Documents/pl112_239.pdf</u>)

233. Iran Threat Reduction and Syria Human Rights Act of 2012, 112 U.S.C. §223. (https://www.treasury.gov/resource-center/sanctions/Documents/hr_1905_pl_112_158.pdf)

234. Iran Threat Reduction and Syria Human Rights Act of 2012, 112 U.S.C. §219. (https://www.treasury.gov/resource-center/sanctions/Documents/hr_1905_pl_112_158.pdf)

235. "EU adds Hezbollah's military wing to terrorism list," *Reuters*, July 22, 2013. (<u>http://www.reuters.com/article/</u>us-eu-hezbollah-idUSBRE96K0DA20130722)

236. Countering Iran in the Western Hemisphere Act of 2012, Pub. L. 112-220, 126 Stat. 1596, codified as amended at 22 U.S.C. §8701. (https://www.congress.gov/112/plaws/publ220/ PLAW-112publ220.pdf)

237. Office of the United States Trade Representative, Executive Office of the President, "Transatlantic Trade and Investment Partnership (T-TIP)," accessed February 17, 2016. (https://ustr.gov/ttip)

238. Office of Representative Robert Pittenger, Press Release, "Congressman Pittenger Leads Bipartisan Effort Urging President Obama To Include Anti-Terrorism Financing Measures In Trade Agreements," February 19, 2016. (<u>https://pittenger.</u> <u>house.gov/media-center/press-releases/pittenger-leads-biparti-</u> <u>san-effort-to-fight-key-terrorism-financing-tool</u>)</u>

239. Max Peck, "Doubling Down on Damascus: Iran's Military Surge to Save the Assad Regime," *Foundation for Defense of Democracies*, January 2016. (<u>http://www.defenddemocracy.org/content/uploads/documents/Doubling_Down_on_Damascus.pdf</u>)
240. Global Magnitsky Human Rights Accountability Act,

S.284, 114 Congress (2015). (<u>https://www.congress.gov/</u> bill/114th-congress/senate-bill/284)

241. "A Tour of Ward 2A of Evin Prison," *Iran Human Rights Documentation Center*, accessed February 17, 2016. (http://www.iranhrdc.org/english/news/features/1000000578-a-tour-of-ward-2a-of-evin-prison.html)

242. Adam Szubin, "Beyond the Vote: Implications for the Sanctions Regime on Iran," *Keynote Address before The Washington Institute for Near East Policy*, September 16, 2015. (http://www.washingtoninstitute.org/uploads/Documents/other/SzubinTranscript20150916-v2.pdf)

243. Josh Lederman, "US says Iran open for business, but Europe's banks disagree," *Associated Press*, May 12, 2016. (<u>http://</u> bigstory.ap.org/article/73fd6c11e9b6474896cf59a4fc3ba108/ us-says-banks-wont-be-punished-lawful-business-iran)

244. U.S. Department of the Treasury, Press Release, "Fact Sheet: New Sanctions on Iran," November 21, 2011. (https://www.treasury.gov/press-center/press-releases/Pages/tg1367.aspx)

245. Imposition of Special Measure Against the Islamic Republic of Iran as a Jurisdiction of Primary Money Laundering Concern, U.S. Department of the Treasury, Financial Crimes Enforcement Network, 76 Federal Register 72878, November 28, 2011, page 72879. (https://www.gpo.gov/fdsys/pkg/FR-2011-11-28/pdf/2011-30331.pdf)

246. Jacob J. Lew, "Iran Nuclear Agreement: The Administration's Case," *Testimony before the House Foreign Affairs Committee*, July 28, 2015. (<u>http://docs.house.gov/meetings/</u> FA/FA00/20150728/103823/HHRG-114-FA00-Wstate-LewJ-20150728.pdf)

247. "Iran banking hobbled by Western reluctance to engage," *Agence France-Presse*, September 13, 2016. (http://www.dailymail.co.uk/wires/afp/article-3788452/Iran-banking-hobbled-Western-reluctance-engage.html)

About The Authors

Emanuele Ottolenghi is a senior fellow at the Foundation for Defense of Democracies and an expert at its Center on Sanctions and Illicit Finance focused on Iran. His research has examined Iran's Islamic Revolutionary Guard Corps, including its links to the country's energy sector and procurement networks. His areas of expertise also include the EU's Middle East policymaking, transatlantic relations, the Arab-Israeli conflict, and Israel's domestic politics. He is author of *The Pasdaran: Inside Iran's Islamic Revolutionary Guard Corps, Iran: The Looming Crisis*, and *Under a Mushroom Cloud: Europe, Iran and the Bomb*.

Saeed Ghasseminejad is an associate fellow at the Foundation for Defense of Democracies specializing in Iran's economy, politics, and the effects of terrorism and political unrest on financial markets. Born and raised in Iran, Saeed is a co-founder of the Iranian Liberal Students and Graduates organization in Iran. He is currently a PhD candidate in finance at Baruch College in New York, where he teaches undergraduate finance. Saeed has a Bachelor's in engineering from the University of Tehran and a Master's in engineering from Ecole Speciale des Travaux Publics in Paris. Saeed's work has been published in *The Wall Street Journal, CNBC, Business Insider, The Weekly Standard, The National Interest, National Post* (Canada), *Hurriyet* (Turkey), *The Jerusalem Post*, and *The Times of Israel*.

Annie Fixler is a policy analyst at the Foundation for Defense of Democracies' Center on Sanctions and Illicit Finance (CSIF). She contributes to CSIF's work on offensive and defensive tools of economic coercion and the application of financial sanctions. She also works closely with FDD's government relations team and executive leadership on a range of issues including Iran sanctions. Prior to joining FDD, Annie worked for the American Israel Public Affairs Committee (AIPAC) in Washington as a senior research analyst and gained an expertise in Congressional affairs and Middle East policy. Annie also serves as the director of public affairs at a strategic communications and public affairs firm based in Washington, DC.

Amir Toumaj is a research analyst at the Foundation for Defense of Democracies specializing in Iranian affairs. His research focuses on the nexus between Iranian economic and security policy-making, the Islamic Revolutionary Guard Corps, domestic politics, nuclear nonproliferation, and Tehran's policies across the Middle East. Born and raised in Tehran, Amir received a BA in Political Science from the University of Illinois and an MA in International Affairs with concentrations in International Economic Affairs and Middle East from the Elliott School at The George Washington University. Prior to joining FDD, Amir was part of the Iran team at the American Enterprise Institute.









About the Foundation for Defense of Democracies

The Foundation for Defense of Democracies is a non-profit, non-partisan policy institute dedicated exclusively to promoting pluralism, defending democratic values, and fighting the ideologies that drive terrorism. Founded shortly after the attacks of 9/11, FDD combines policy research, democracy and counterterrorism education, strategic communications, and investigative journalism in support of its mission.

FDD focuses its efforts where opinions are formed and decisions are made, providing cutting-edge research, investigative journalism and public education - transforming ideas into action and policy.

FDD holds events throughout the year, including the Leading Thinkers series, briefings on Capitol Hill, expert roundtables for public officials, diplomats and military officers, book releases, and panel discussions and debates within the policy community.

About FDD's Center on Sanctions and Illicit Finance

The Foundation for Defense of Democracies' (FDD) Center on Sanctions and Illicit Finance (CSIF) expands upon FDD's success as a leading think tank on the use of financial and economic measures in national security. The Center's purpose is to provide policy and subject matter expertise in areas of illicit finance, financial power, and economic pressure to the global policy community.

CSIF seeks to illuminate the critical intersection between the full range of illicit finance and national security, including money laundering, terrorist financing, sanctions evasion, proliferation financing, cyber crime and economic espionage, and corruption and kleptocracy. This includes understanding how America can best use and preserve its financial and economic power to promote its interests and the integrity of the financial system. The Center also examines how America's adversaries may be leveraging economic tools and power.

CSIF focuses on global illicit finance, including the financing of terrorism, weapons and nuclear proliferation, corruption, and environmental crime. It has a particular emphasis on Iran, Saudi Arabia, Kuwait, Qatar, Turkey, Russia, and other autocratic states as well as drug cartels and terrorist groups including Hamas, Hezbollah, al-Qaeda, and the Islamic State.



For more information, please visit www.defenddemocracy.org.



P.O. Box 33249 Washington, DC 20033-3249 (202) 207-0190 www.defenddemocracy.org